A role for p190RhoGAP in the signaling mechanisms mediated by the axon guidance cue netrin-1 and its receptor deleted in colorectal cancer (DCC) in primary cortical neurons

Sadig Niftullayev

Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology McGill University, Montreal, Canada

Submitted in February, 2018

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

Master of Science

© Sadig Niftullayev, 2018

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I would like to convey my gratitude and appreciation for my supervisor Dr. Nathalie Lamarche-Vane for trusting me and accepting me to her research group. Her patience and willingness to assist me through my Master's degree studies helped me cope with multitude of challenges and difficulties I have faced. Last but not the least, I want to thank her for degree of freedom that she let me have to organize my project.

I would also like to thank my mentor Dr. Isabelle Rouiller and my committee members, Dr. Christian Rocheleau and Dr. Jean-Jacques Lebrun for their valuable scientific inputs.

Moreover, I would like to express my most cordial feelings for the members of Dr. Lamarche-Vane's laboratory— Dr. Yi He, Dr. Ali Ben Djoudi Ouadda, Dr. Judith Antoine-Bertrand, Chahat Mehra, and Philippe Duquette— for helping me to have very joyful and educative experience. I feel obliged to mention Philippe Duquette's name in particular as he has been personally involved in every step of my training.

Furthermore, I would like to thank the Government of Azerbaijan and Canadian Institutes of Health Research for the financial endorsement they have provided during my Master's degree studied.

I find it necessary to mention Dr. Keith Burridge's name and thank him for having generously provided us with materials to support our research. Finally, I would like to thank my family members who have never deprived me of their moral and material support, despite being an ocean away, and my girlfriend Chahat for her unlimited support during the formulation of this thesis.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

This thesis is a manuscript-based structure. According to the faculty regulations, manuscripts co-authored by others must be accompanied with an explicit statement as to who contributed to such work and to what extent. Copyright waivers from the co-authors appear in the appendix.

Chapter 2

My contribution to the manuscript entitled "A role for p190RhoGAP in the signaling mechanisms mediated by the axon guidance cue netrin-1 and its receptor deleted in colorectal cancer (DCC) in primary cortical neurons" involves performing all the experiments. Philippe Duquette has also assisted me during the dissection of rat embryos, as well as, dissociation, culturing, and maintenance of cortical neurons. I have written the manuscript with the support of Dr. Lamarche-Vane.

ABSTRACT

Axon outgrowth and path-finding are crucial points in the development of the Central Nervous System (CNS), where neurons use the distal tip of their axons— the growth cone— to navigate towards their final destination. The growth cone contains highly dynamic actin cytoskeleton and it carries the machinery to respond to various guidance cues, one of which is netrin-1- a secreted, laminin-like protein family. Netrin-1 signal through a cell membrane receptor protein— deleted in colorectal cancer (DCC)— to induce an attractive response. Mutations and small nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in different components of netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway have been implicated in neurological disorders such as congenital mirror movement, schizophrenia, Parkinson's disease, aggressive behavior, and Alzheimer's disease. Although our understanding of the netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway is far from complete, work from different research group has strongly hinted at the substantial role of the Rho family of small GTPases downstream of this pathway. Among other functions, small Rho GTPases regulate the dynamics of actin cytoskeleton, which is an important component of the growth cone movement. The activity of small Rho GTPases is regulated by three classes of upstream proteins- Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), GTPaseactivating proteins (GAPs), and GDP-dissociation inhibitors (GDIs)- roles of which in axon guidance have been studied only to a limited extent.

In the first chapter of this thesis, we have reviewed the classic guidance cues and their receptors, as well as, the role of Rho GTPases and their regulators— GAPs and GEFs— in axon outgrowth and guidance. In this chapter, we have particularly focused on the involvement of GAPs and GEFs in neurological disorders.

In the second chapter, we have demonstrated our findings related to the role of p190— a GAP protein that is active towards RhoA— in the development of cortical neurons downstream of netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway. It has already been shown that p190 is an important protein for CNS development as it is involved in fear memory formation, axon outgrowth and guidance; however, its role in netrin-1/DCC pathway has not been addressed yet. In this chapter, we report that p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in both HEK293 cells and cortical neurons. We have also shown that, in cortical neurons, upon netrin-1 stimulation, p190 is phosphorylated by Src family kinases. We have documented a similar effect in HEK293 cells upon overexpression of DCC. In addition, we have noted that the tyrosine 1418 (Y1418) residue of DCC is crucial for its binding to p190. Furthermore, we observed that p190 is highly expressed in cortical neurons, where it has similar localization patterns with, actin, DCC, and Rho-GTP at the growth cone. Finally, we have reported that along with its SH2 domains, the SH3 domain of p120RasGAP is also interacting with p190. Together, these findings suggest a role for p190 downstream of netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway.

Résumé

La croissance et le guidage axonal sont des événements essentiels au cours du développement du Système Nerveux Central (SNC), pendant lesquels les neurones utilisent l'extrémité distale de leurs axones— le cône de croissance— afin de naviguer vers leurs destinations finales. Le cône de croissance renferme un cytosquelette d'actine hautement dynamique et la machinerie nécessaire pour réagir aux différents facteurs de guidage dont la nétrine-1— une protéine sécrétée qui ressemble aux lamines. Nétrine-1 agit via son récepteur « deleted in colorectal cancer» (DCC), qui est une protéine transmembranaire, lui permettant d'induire une réponse attractive des neurones environnants. Des mutations et des « small nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) » dans les gènes codant pour différentes protéines de la voie de signalisation nétrine-1/DCC ont été impliqué dans les troubles neurologiques tels que le rare syndrome « congenital mirror movement", la schizophrénie, la maladie de Parkinson, les comportements agressifs et la maladie d'Alzheimer. Bien que notre compréhension de la voie de signalisation de nétrine-1/DCC soit bien loin d'être complète, la recherche faite par différents laboratoires a suggéré fortement un rôle substantiel de la famille des petites GTPases Rho en aval de cette voie de signalisation. Entre autres fonctions, les petites GTPases Rho régulent la réorganisation des filaments d'actine qui est une composante importante du mouvement du cône de croissance. L'activité des petites GTPases Rho est contrôlée par trois classes de protéines, soient les « Guanine nucleotide exchange factors» (GEF), les « GTPaseactivating protein» (GAP) et les « GDP-dissociation inhibitors» (GDI). Les fonctions de celles-ci dans le guidage axonal ont encore été peu étudiées jusqu'à ce jour.

Dans le premier chapitre de cette thèse, nous présentons les facteurs classiques de guidage et leurs récepteurs, ainsi que les rôles des GTPases Rho et leurs régulateurs— GAPs and GEFs— durant la croissance et le guidage des axones. Dans ce chapitre, nous nous sommes concentrés tout particulièrement sur l'implication des GAPs and des GEFs dans les troubles neurologiques.

Dans le deuxième chapitre, nous présentons nos résultats sur le rôle de p190une GAP qui est active en vers RhoA— dans le développement des neurones corticaux en aval de la voie de signalisation de nétrine-1/DCC. Il a déjà été démontré que p190 est une protéine importante pour le développement du SNC, car elle est impliquée en formation du mémoire de peur, l'excroissance et le guidage des axones; cependant, son rôle dans la voie de signalisation de nétrine-1/DCC n'a pas encore été étudié. Dans ce chapitre, nous démontrons que p190 forme un complexe avec DCC et RasGAP dans les cellules HEK293 et les neurones corticaux primaires. Nous montrons également que, dans les neurones corticaux, p190 est phosphorylée par les kinases de la famille Src suite à la stimulation avec la nétrine-1. Nous avons documenté un effet similaire dans les cellules HEK293 suite à la surexpression de DCC dans ces cellules. De plus, nous avons remarqué que le résidu tyrosine 1418 (Y1418) de DCC est capital pour son interaction avec p190. En outre, nous avons observé que les neurones corticaux ont une haute expression de p190 et que, dans ces neurones, la localisation subcellulaire de p190 dans le cône de croissance est similaire à celle de l'actine, DCC et Rho-GTP. Fianlement, nous avons remarqué qu'en plus de son motif SH2, le motif SH3 de RasGAP interagit également avec p190. Ainsi, ces résultats suggèrent fortement un rôle pour p190 en aval de la voie de signalisation de nétrine-1/DCC.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| AB | Apicobasal |
|----------|--|
| AD | Alzheimer's disease |
| ADCA | Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia |
| ADHD | Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder |
| AKAP13 | A-kinase anchor protein |
| ALS | Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis |
| AMP | Adenosine monophosphate |
| APP | Amyloid precursor protein |
| AQP4 | Aquaporin 4 |
| ARAP | ArfGAP and RhoGAP with ankyrin repeat and PH domains |
| ARF | ADP ribosylation factor |
| ARHGAP | Rho GTPase activating protein |
| ARHGEF | Rho Guanine nucleotide exchange factor |
| ASD | Autism spectrum disorder |
| ASEF1 | APC-stimulated guanine nucleotide exchange factor 1 |
| Aβ | β-amyloid |
| BBB | Blood-brain-barrier |
| cAMP | Cyclic adenosine monophosphate |
| Cdc42 | Cell division cycle 42 |
| cGMP | Cyclic guanosine monophosphate |
| CICR | Calcium-induced calcium release |
| CIN/PDXP | Haloacid dehydrogenase family phosphatase chronophin |

| CIPN | Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy |
|-------|---|
| Clg | Common-site lymphoma/leukemia |
| СМТ | Charcot-Marie-Tooth |
| CNS | Central nervous system |
| CNV | Copy number variation |
| Comm | Commissureless |
| CPG | Central pattern generator |
| CSC | Cancer stem cell |
| Cyk4 | Cytokeratine 4 |
| DAG | Diacylglycerol |
| DBL | Diffuse B-cell lymphoma |
| DCC | Deleted in colorectal cancer |
| DH | DBL homology |
| DHR | DOCK-homology regions |
| DLPFC | Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex |
| DMEM | Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium |
| DMSO | Dimethyl sulfoxide |
| DN | Dominant-negative |
| DNMBP | Dynamin-binding protein |
| DOCK | Dedicator of cytokinesis (domain) |
| Dock | Dreadlocks-ortholog (Drosophila Nck ortholog) |
| DRG | Dorsal root ganglion |
| DRS | Duane's retraction syndrome |

| DS | Down syndrome |
|-------|--|
| DsCAM | Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule |
| EAE | Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis |
| EDTA | Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid |
| EGF | Epidermal growth factor |
| ERK | Extracellular signal-regulated kinase |
| FAK | Focal adhesion kinase |
| FARP2 | FERM, RhoGEF, and pleckstrin domain-containing protein 2 |
| FBS | Fetal bovine serum |
| FERM | Four-point-one/ezrin/radixin/moesin |
| FGD1 | Faciogenital dysplasia protein 1 |
| fMRI | Functional MRI |
| Fn | Fibronectin |
| JPLS | Juvenile-onset primary lateral sclerosis |
| GABA | ³ -aminobutyric acid |
| GAP | GTPase-activating protein |
| GB | Glioblastoma |
| GDI | GDP-dissociator inhibitor |
| GDP | Guanosine diphosphate |
| GEF | Guanine nucleotide exchange factor |
| GFP | Green fluorescent protein |
| GMIP | GEM-interacting protein |
| GMP | Guanosine monophosphate |

| GPI | Glycosylphosphatidylinositol |
|--------|---|
| GST | Glutathione-S-Transferase |
| GTP | Guanosine triphosphate |
| GWAS | Genome-wide association study |
| HD | Huntington's disease |
| HEPES | 20mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid |
| HGPPS | Horizontal gaze palsy with progressive scoliosis |
| HIE | Hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy |
| HMHA-1 | Histocompatibility Minor HA-1 |
| HTT | Huntingtin |
| IAHSP | Infantile-onset ascending hereditary spastic paraplegia |
| ICD | Intracellular domain |
| ID | Intellectual disability |
| Ig | Immunoglobulin |
| IPTG | Isopropylthiogalactopyranoside |
| IQ | Intelligence quotient |
| ITSN1 | Intersectin1 |
| Kuz | Kuzbanian |
| LARG | Leukemia-associated RhoGEF |
| LDP | Long-term depression |
| LGN | Lateral geniculate nucleus |
| LMN | Lower motor neurons |
| LOAD | Late onset AD |

| LTP | Long-term potentiation |
|-----------|---|
| MB | Medulloblastoma |
| MDD | Major depressive disorder |
| MF | Microfilaments |
| MgcRacGAP | Male germ cell RacGAP |
| MMD | Mirror movement disorder |
| MR | Mental retardation |
| MRI | Magnetic resonance imaging |
| MRX | X-linked mental retardation |
| MS | Multiple sclerosis |
| MSN | Medium spiny neurons |
| MT | Microtubules |
| MWO | Migraine without aura |
| MYO9B | Myosin IXb |
| NAc | Nucleus accumbens |
| NCAM | Neural cell adhesion molecules |
| Nck | Non-catalytic region of tyrosine kinase |
| NOS | Nitric oxide synthase |
| Nox1 | NADPH oxidase homolog 1 |
| Npn | Neuropilin |
| NrCAM | Neuronal cell adhesion molecule |
| OPHN1 | Oligophrenin-1 |
| PBS | Phosphate-buffered saline |

| PCR | Polymerase chain reaction |
|--------|---|
| PD | Parkinson's disease |
| PDZ | PICK1/PSD95/Dlg/ZO-1 |
| PEI | Polyethylenimine |
| РН | Pleckstrin homology |
| PI-PLC | Phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C |
| PKA | Protein kinase A |
| PKC± | Protein kinase C± |
| PLEKHG | Pleckstrin homology domain containing, family G |
| PMSF | Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride |
| PP2 | Pyrazolopyrimidine 2 |
| PSD95 | Postsynaptic density protein of 95 KDa |
| qPCR | Quantitative PCR |
| QT | Quantitative trait |
| Rac | Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate |
| Ral | Ras like |
| Ras | Rat sarcoma |
| RGC | Retinal ganglion cell |
| Rho | Ras homologous |
| RICH | RhoGAP interacting with CIP4 homologues |
| RIPA | Radioimmunoprecipitation assay |
| Robo | Roundabout |
| ROS | Reactive oxygen species |

| SDF1A | Stromal cell-derived factor 1A |
|-----------------------|---|
| SDS | Sodium dodecyl sulfate |
| SDS-PAGE | Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis |
| Sema | Semaphorins |
| SGEF | SH3 domain-containing guanine exchange factor |
| SHH | Sonic hedgehog |
| SH2 | Src homology 2 |
| SH3 | Src homology 3 |
| SH3BP1 | SH3 domain binding protein 1 |
| SNP | Single nucleotide polymorphisms |
| SNTA1 | Syntrophin alpha 1 |
| SrGAP | Slit-Robo GTPase-activating protein subfamily |
| SVZ | Sub-ventricular zone |
| TAG-1 | Transient axonal glycoprotein-1 |
| TCGAP | Tc10/CDC42 GTPase-activating protein |
| TGF ² /BMP | Transforming growth factor ² (TGFb)/bone morphogenetic protein |
| TRAF2 | TNF receptor-associated factor 2 |
| TRITC | Tetramethylrhodamine |
| TWEAK | TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis |
| UMN | Upper motor neurons |
| UNC or Unc | Uncoordinated |
| UTR | Untranslated region |
| WB | Western blot |

| WMI | White matter injuries |
|------|-----------------------------|
| WT | Wild type |
| XLMR | X-linked mental retardation |
| Y | Tyrosine |
| YFP | Yellow fluorescent protein |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACKNOWLEDGMENTSI |
|---|
| CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORSIII |
| ABSTRACTIV |
| RESUMEVI |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSVIII |
| TABLE OF CONTENTSXVI |
| LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURESXIX |
| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND LITTERATURE REVIEW 1 |
| WILL BE SUBMITTED TO THE JOURNAL OF SMALL GTPASES 1 |
| 1.0 GENERAL INTRODUCTION 2 |
| 1.1 AXON GUIDANCE |
| 1.1.1 NETRINS |
| 1.1.2 SLITS |
| 1.1.3 SEMAPHORINS |
| 1.1.4 EPHRINS |
| 1.2 COMMON MECHANISMS OF AXON GUIDANCE11 |
| 1.2.1 REGULATION OF RECEPTOR COMPLEXES 11 |
| 1.2.1.1 TRAFFICKING AND SURFACE ENRICHMENT OF GUIDANCE RECEPTORS |
| 1.2.1.2 REGULATED ENDOCYTOSIS OF GUIDANCE RECEPTORS 12 |
| 1.2.1.3 PROTEOLYTIC PROCESSING OF GUIDANCE RECEPTORS 12 |
| 1.2.2 SIGNALING FROM AXON GUIDANCE RECEPTOR COMPLEXES 13 |
| 1.2.2.1 CALCIUM AND CYCLIC NUCLEOTIDES 13 |

| 1.3 LINKING AXON GUIDANCE RECEPTOR SIGNALING TO THE ACTIN CYTOSKELETON: RHO GTPASES AND THEIR REGULATORS— GAPS AND GEFS |
|--|
| 1.3.1 RHO FAMILY OF GTPASES AND THEIR INVOLVEMENT IN GUIDANCE RECEPTOR SIGNALING |
| 1.3.2 GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT GEFS AND GAPS 17 |
| 1.3.3 RHOGAPS AND GEFS IN AXON GUIDANCE 19 |
| 1.3.4 REGULATORS OF RHO GTPASES IN NEUROLOGICAL DISORDERS . 24 |
| 1.3.4.1 GAPS |
| 1.3.4.2 GEFS |
| 1.4 CONCLUSION |
| FIGURES AND TABLES FOR CHAPTER 1 44 |
| RATIONALE AND OBJECTIVE 49 |
| PREFACE TO CHAPTER 2 50 |
| CHAPTER 2: A ROLE FOR P190RHOGAP IN THE SIGNALING MECHANISMS MEDIATED BY THE AXON GUIDANCE CUE NETRIN-1 AND ITS RECEPTOR DELETED IN COLORECTAL CANCER (DCC) IN PRIMARY CORTICAL NEURONS |
| ABSTRACT |
| INTRODUCTION |
| MATERIALS AND METHODS 58 |
| RESULTS |
| DISCUSSION 68 |
| FIGURES FOR CHAPTER 271 |
| CHAPTER 3: SUMMARY AND FINAL CONLUSIONS |
| FIGURE FOR CHAPTER 393 |

| EFERENCES |
|-----------|
|-----------|

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1.1. The mechanism of the regulation of the small Rho GTPases

Figure 1.2. The classic guidance cues, their receptors, and their effect on the small Rho GTPases

Table 1.1. GAPs and GEFs in guidance cue/receptor signaling pathways

Table 1.2. GAPs and GEFs in neurological diseases and disorders

CHAPTER 2

Figure 2.1. p190 and RasGAP are expressed in HEK293 cells.

Figure 2.2. p190 forms a complex with DCC in HEK293 cells.

Figure 2.3. The tyrosine 1418 (Y1418) residue of DCC is important for its interaction with p190.

Figure 2.4 The SH₃ domain of RasGAP interacts with p190.

Figure 2.5. p190 is highly expressed in rat cortical neurons.

Figure 2.6. p190 localizes at the growth cone together with DCC and Rho-GTP.

Figure 2.7. p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in rat cortical neurons.

Figure 2.8. Netrin-1 stimulation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 in rat cortical neurons.

Figure 2.9 Src family kinases are responsible for netrin-1/DCC-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 in cortical neurons.

CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.1. Preliminary model of the signaling mechanism of p190 downstream of the netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND LITTERATURE REVIEW

Will be submitted to the journal of Small GTPases

1.0 General introduction

One of the fundamental steps during the development of both the vertebrate and the invertebrate nervous systems is the formation of proper connections between neurons (specialized nerve cells) and their targets cells— a process called neural wiring [1, 2], failure of which causes neurological disorders ranging from autism to Down's syndrome [3]. The two main mechanisms of the neural wiring are pathfinding and target selection, pathfinding being the first of the two in chronological order. During pathfinding axons navigate through the complex environment of a developing embryo toward their targets, which can be far away from their cell bodies. As they reach their target areas, axons select their specific targets among many other cells. Successful implementation of the neuronal wiring, which is crucial for fulfillment of all the behavioral functions, is achieved through an intimate interplay between axon guidance and neural activity [4].

In this chapter, our focus will be on axon pathfinding and the implication of some of its downstream molecular components in neurological disorders. More precisely, we will talk about axon guidance and the molecules that are implicated in this process. After, we will briefly review the Rho family of small GTPases, their regulators, and their involvement in downstream signaling pathways of the axon guidance cues/receptor complexes. We will then proceed to the final and the main part of the chapter, where we will thoroughly review the implication the regulators of the Rho family of GTPases— GEFs (Guanine nucleotide Exchange Factors) and GAPs (GTPase-activating Proteins) in neurological diseases and disorders.

1.1 Axon guidance

Species with bilateral symmetry, including humans, possess the midline axis, which is a very important structure for proper wiring of the nervous system [5, 6]. This feature becomes even more crucial in the vertebrates because of the complexness of the nervous system where neurons have to decide whether or not to cross the midline or towards which axis (for example, rostral versus caudal or ventral versus dorsal) they should send theirs axons to [7]. Naturally, all this complexity of developing nervous system raises a question: How do such an immense number of neurons manage to connect only with the certain number of target cells, while evading the. Currently, it is known that the axons of later born neurons fasciculate with the axons of early born neurons or simply follow the scaffold that had been laid by them. The early born neurons, however, have to navigate through an environment that is composed of undifferentiated neuroepithelial cells [8]. Pioneering studies addressing this issue dates back to late 19th century, to the work of the "father of neuroscience"- Ramon y Cajal. More than a century ago, he observed that the distal tip of the axon has a very irregularly shaped structure, which he called "the growth cone" [5, 9, 10]. Cajal proposed that the growth cone might be the structure that, in response to diffusible chemotropic signals, navigates through the developing brain to connect with the distant targets [9, 11]. Approximately two decades later, motility of the growth cone was shown by Harrison, using frog neurons [12-14]. The theory became more substantiated by the work of Sperry, where he showed that specific populations of retinal axons innervate only certain parts of the optic tectum, suggesting that there is some sort of molecular complementation between these axons and the tectum [15]. The influx of data supporting the possible chemoattraction model encouraged the researchers to reveal the underlying molecular components. Many of the early candidates such as neural cell adhesion molecules (NCAMs), integrins, fasciculin, and cadherins did not fit the model since they were simply providing permissive environment rather than conferring directionality to the navigating axons [5]. Finally, a little less than a century after Cajal's initial work, using the combination of genetic, biochemical, in vitro, and in vivo approaches, scientists identified the classical guidance cues— Netrins, Slits, Semaphorins, and Ephrins— and their cognate receptors- deleted in colorectal cancer (DCC) and uncoordinated-5 (UNC5), Roundabout (Robo), Plexin and Neuropilin, and Eph, respectively [5, 16, 17]. As a result of the work done during the past few decades, it is now known that the growth cone is a very motile structure, mainly composed of highly dynamic cytoskeletal elements— actin and tubulin filaments—, as well as, a myriad of other proteins, which participate in the regulation of cytoskeletal assembly/disassembly. The past research has also disclosed the fact that the growth cone is furnished with one or more of the above-mentioned receptors to be able to respond to the guidance cues appropriately and to be able to navigate accordingly [3, 18-20].

The importance of the axon guidance cues and their receptors can also be seen from the fact that several studies have demonstrated a link between single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and mutations in the genes encoding these proteins and numerous congenital disorders and neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's disease (PD), Alzheimer's disease (AD), Mirror movement disorder (MMD), Horizontal gaze palsy with progressive scoliosis (HGPPS), dyslexia, Kallmann's syndrome, Hirschsprung's disease, Autism spectrum disorders (ASD), epilepsy, and Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) [17, 20, 21].

Although some of the well-known morphogens such as Wnt, Sonic hedgehog (Shh), and transforming growth factor ² (TGF²)/bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) families have also been implicated in axon guidance [3, 4, 16, 17], we will only discuss the classical guidance cues that have been mentioned above. Also, it must be noted that the classical guidance cues are not restricted to the central nervous system (CNS), but also function in various molecular pathways outside the CNS [22, 23], however, this will not be discussed here.

1.1.1 Netrins

The netrins are members of a family of conserved secreted guidance cues. Netrins were uncovered in a convergent series of experiments that were carried out on invertebrates (circumferential axon guidance in *C.elegans*) and vertebrates (ventromedial guidance of commissural axons in vertebrates) trying to identify the molecules that function as chemoattractants in axon guidance [5, 16, 17]. The discovery of netrins in different branches of the animal kingdom proved that, despite the increasing complexity of the nervous system through evolution, some of the underling mechanisms have been well conserved [17]. So far, one netrin has been identified in *C.elegans* (UNC-6), two in *Drosophila* (netrin-A and B), and several in vertebrates— secreted netrins, netrin-1 to -4, and glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored membrane-bound netrins— netrin-G1 and –G2. Mammals, including rats, mice, and humans, express netrin-1, -3, -4, -G1, and – G2. Netrin-2 expression, however, has only been detected in chicken and zebrafish [24]. The N-terminal domain of netrins is homologous to the domains V and VI found at the

amino terminal ends of laminins. In that sense, netrin-1, -2, and -3 show similarity to ³ chain of laminins, while netrin-4 and netrin-Gs are similar to the ² chain of laminins [16, 24].

Further research has shown that, in vertebrates, netrin-1 is produced by the floor plate and can function as both short and long range chemoattractants [5, 16, 17]. Later, through the work done on rat embryo explants, it was demonstrated that netrin-1 can also act as repellant, repelling trochlear motor neurons and other dorsally projecting hindbrain motor neurons [5]. The chemoattractive functions of netrin-1 are mediated by "deleted in colorectal cancer" (DCC) family of proteins (UNC-40 in C.elegans, Frazzled in Drosophila), characterized by four immunoglobulin (Ig) and six fibronectin (Fn) type III repeats in their extracellular domains [5, 16, 17, 24]. Netrin-1 has also been shown to bind to another DCC family member, neogenin, and the Ig superfamily member, Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule (DsCAM), in other systems [16]. On the other hand, the repulsive functions of netrin-1 are mediated by the proteins of the UNC family, of which there is one (UNC5) in *C.elegans and Drosophila* and four in mammals (UNC5A-D). In Drosophila, UNC5 carries out the repulsive response of netrin alone, while in Xenopus, UNC5 and DCC form heterodimers to mediate the repulsion [25]. In C. elegans, however, there are multiple repulsive signaling mechanisms involving unc5 and unc40 [26].

1.1.2 Slits

Slits are large secreted chemorepellants. They contain four N-terminal leucine-rich repeats, as well as, epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like repeats [16]. Much of our understanding of slits are coming from work carried out in *Drosophila* where they

were discovered as ligands of the receptor protein roundabout (robo), which ensures that neurons cannot re-cross the midline, after having crossed it once [5, 16, 17]. There has been only one identified slit protein in *C.elegans and Drosophila*, versus three slits in mammals (Slit1-3). In parallel studies on *C. elegans*, robo was identified as a regulator of nerve ring formation [17]. There are three Robos in *Drosophila*, three robos in mammals, and only one (Sax-3) in *C.elegans* [16]. Slit-robo pathway was another evidence for the conservation of the axon guidance mechanisms through evolution [17].

In vertebrates, slit has been shown to control the midline crossing of the axons, working along with netrins. However, it was only after elimination of all three slit isoforms that its importance could be finally shown in term of commissure formation [17]. Furthermore, the expression of different robo combinations control the degree of responsiveness to slit and consequently, determines the exact position of the neurons, once they cross the midline [5, 16, 17].

The expression of both Robo and DCC in commissural axons begs the question of "How do these axons cross the midline?" or "How do these axons cross the midline only once?". In *Drosophila*, another protein, namely commissureless (comm), inhibits surface expression of Robo, by targeting it to proteasomal degradation, in the pre-crossing axons. Once the axon crosses the midline, the expression level of comm decreases, leading to an increase in the surface expression of robo, which prevents re-crossing of axons. Even though, there has not been any identified comm homolog in mammals, it has been noted that robo3 produces two isoforms by alternative splicing: robo3.1, which is highly expressed in the pre-crossing axons and inhibits the repulsive action of robo1 and 2; and robo3.2, which is highly expressed in the post-crossing axons and enhances the repulsive

action of the robo1 and 2 [5, 17]. Furthermore, it has been shown that upregulation of robo levels after midline crossing act in two ways: 1) by increasing the slit responsiveness 2) and by directly interacting with the cytoplasmic tail of DCC (in *cis* manner) to attenuate netrin-DCC signaling [5].

In addition to its role in midline crossing of axons, Slit-Robo signaling is also involved in the repulsion of retinal axons at the optic chiasm, in the repulsion of neuronal precursors migrating to the olfactory bulb, and in the repulsion of olfactory bulb axons. Another proven role of slit in the vertebrate nervous system is its role as a branching factor for sensory axons and cortical dendrites [17].

1.1.3 Semaphorins

Semaphorins (sema) represent a large family of phylogenetically conserved guidance cues that include both secreted and membrane-bound proteins, all of which contain the semaphorin domain of 500 amino acids that mediate receptor interaction. The first identified semaphorin— Fasciclin IV (Sema-1A) — was a transmembrane protein that is required for pathfinding in grasshopper limb sensory neurons [16]. The first identified vertebrate semaphorin, on the other hand, was a secreted protein— Collapsin-1 (Sema-3A), which was discovered from chick brain extracts because of its ability to cause growth cone collapse in cultured neurons [5, 16, 17]. Today, around twenty members of semaphorins have been discovered and divided into eight classes, based on their structural homology— class 1 and 2 are invertebrate semaphorins, whereas classes 3-7 are from vertebrates. However, emerging evidences make this lineation more and more ambiguous [17].

The first identified semaphorin receptor was neuropilin (Npn), of which there are only two members in vertebrates, neuropilin-1 and -2, and none in invertebrates. However, the lack of any signaling domains in neuropilins ignited the search for an alternative receptor. This led to the discovery of Plexins— a phylogenetically conserved family that is distantly related to the Semaphorins—, which contains more than ten members under four different sub-families (PlexinA-D). Different permutations of plexins and neuropilins receptors are expressed in distinct subset of neurons [17].

In vertebrates, the role of semaphorins in axon guidance has been studied mostly through secreted class-3 Semaphorins [17]. For example, Sema3A has been shown to be expressed in tissues that surround peripheral nerves, where it repels axons from entering into wrong trajectories by a mechanism called "surround repulsion" [16]. Generally, defects in distinct members of Sema3 signaling has been shown to cause aberrant projections of sensory neurons and specific motor cranial nerves (oculomotor, trochlear, trigeminal, and facial nerves), as well as defasciculation of nerve bundles [5]. The transmembrane semaphorins act also as repellents either through surround repulsion or by direct expression on the nerve bundles. In addition to their well-known repulsive roles, semaphorins have also been implicated in chemoattraction for cortical dendrites [17]. Another interesting aspect of the semaphorins is that they can also act as receptors in various processes such as photoreceptor targeting in *Drosophila*, cardiac development in chicken, and thalamic axon guidance in mammals [16].

1.1.4 Ephrins

Since Sperry's experiments on frog retinal axon projections to the optic tectum [15], deciphering the underlying mechanisms has been the focus of many researchers.

Axon from the temporal and nasal part of the retina shows regional preference, respectively, for anterior and posterior parts of the tectum in lower vertebrates and for the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) of the thalamus in higher vertebrate. Co-culture experiments demonstrated that incubation with membranes from inappropriate region of the tectum causes growth cone collapse in retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) [27]. In addition, incubating the membranes with phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C (PI-PLC) eliminated this effect, which suggested that the causative molecule is GPI-linked [28]. Purification of this molecule led to the discovery of EphrinA5, which is now known to be expressed in an increasing anteroposterior gradient across the tectum [5, 16, 17].

Since then, two subfamilies of ephrin molecules have been discovered: GPIanchored EphrinA, represented by two classes and transmembrane EphrinB, represented by three classes. Both subfamilies are unable to elicit a response when they are released from the membrane, suggesting that ephrins are short range repulsive molecules. Class A ephrins signal through class-A Eph receptors, represented by eight members, while class B ephrins signal through class-B Eph receptors, represented by six members, with varying degree of selectivity. As opposed to the EphrinA-EphA pathway, which controls the topographic mapping through the anterior-posterior axis of the tectum (or LGN), EphrinB-EphB pathway is involved in the mapping of the dorsal-ventral axis [5, 16, 17].

EphrinsB can also be involved in the reverse signaling upon interacting with EphB receptors [5, 16, 17], which leads to phosphorylation of a tyrosine residue in the intracellular domain of the Eph tyrosine kinase receptor. Eventually the same idea was also proven for the class A ephrins, despite the fact that they lack an intracellular domain. It is believed that they act in *cis* manner through co-receptors [17]. Apart from their roles in the topographic mapping, ephrins also function as short-range attractants and repellants in the guidance of many central and peripheral axons, as well as in the pruning of axonal trajectories. Regulation of dendritic morphology and synaptogenesis are also among the functions of ephrins [16].

1.2 Common mechanisms of axon guidance

1.2.1 Regulation of receptor complexes

As a result of the research addressing the molecular functions of guidance cues and their receptors, a common theme has emerged, which proposes that the receptor complex rather than the guidance cue itself determines the reaction of the growth cone to a given cue [18, 29]. Indeed, a wide range of intracellular mechanisms ensures that, in a given moment, the growth cone is well furnished with the correct combination of receptor complexes and is ready to respond to the guidance cues. However, the current knowledge we have about the regulatory mechanisms of the guidance cue/receptor complexes is incomplete as there are more mechanisms to be revealed. Nonetheless, there have been many advances in the elucidation of some of these mechanisms ranging from transcriptional regulation to proteolytic cleavage of the receptor complexes [29].

1.2.1.1 Trafficking and surface enrichment of guidance receptors

In theory, regulating the surface expression of a receptor should affect the strength of the signaling through its ligand. Indeed, several *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies have hinted at the importance of regulated receptor trafficking in axon guidance. Examples of this level of regulation would be the trafficking of Robo by Comm in flies [29]; trafficking of DCC by protein kinase A (PKA) and its surface enrichment through

Hsc70-TrioGEF in rat [29, 30]; and trafficking of UNC-40 (DCC), UNC-5, and SAX-3 (Robo) in *C. elegans* [29].

1.2.1.2 Regulated Endocytosis of Guidance Receptors

Another way of controlling the surface expression of a receptor, in parallel to its trafficking to the cell membrane, is the regulated internalization through endocytosis. Regulated endocytosis of receptor complexes is an integral part of axon guidance. For example, endocytosis of ephrin-Eph ligand/receptor complex has been shown to be important for repulsive responses in mice. In addition, interaction and co-endocytosis of receptor neuropilin-1 (Npn-1) with cell adhesion molecules L1 and transient axonal glycoprotein-1 (TAG-1) has been shown to be crucial for Sema3a signaling in mice. Finally, selective internalization of UNC5A, but not DCC, by active protein kinase $C\pm$ (PKC \pm) switches from repulsive netrin-1 signaling to attractive one [29, 31].

1.2.1.3 Proteolytic Processing of Guidance Receptors

Several studies have documented that proteolytic cleavage of guidance cues and their receptors by ADAM metalloproteases, as well as, matrix metalloproteases is important for axon guidance *in vivo*, in both invertebrates and vertebrates. For instance, impairing metalloprotease-dependent ectodomain shedding of DCC results in potentiated netrin-1 signaling. Among these metalloproteases, the Kuzbanian/ADAM10 (kuz/ADAM10) family is of particular interest as they have been linked to the signaling pathways of more than one guidance cues. Studies in *Drosophila* have reported ADAM10 to be a positive regulator of Slit-Robo signaling. Furthermore, cleavage of the ligand ephrin-A2 and the receptor EphB2 by ADAM10 suggests that, in the context of ephrin-Eph signaling, ADAM10 targets both the ligand and the receptor [29, 31]. In addition, more evidences are emerging to support a role for ADAM10/gamma-secretasemediated sequential cleavage of receptors in axon guidance. DCC and a number of ephrins ligands appear to be the targets of a similar mechanism [29, 31].

1.2.2 Signaling from axon guidance receptor complexes

Upon assembly of the axon guidance cues with their appropriate receptor complexes, a myriad of signaling pathways are exploited to steer the growth cone. Although complete understanding of guidance receptor signaling is currently lacking, several components of downstream signaling pathways have been identified in recent years [29]. Examples of such intracellular components would be calcium, cyclic nucleotides, and Rho GTPases [18, 29, 31]. In this chapter, we will briefly talk about the involvement of calcium and cyclic nucleotides signaling in axon guidance. However, our main focus will be on the role Rho GTPases and their upstream regulators— GAPs and GEFs— in axon guidance.

1.2.2.1 Calcium and Cyclic Nucleotides

Based on *in vitro* studies, calcium and cyclic nucleotides (cAMP and cGMP) can directly mediate guidance receptor signaling and can modulate the response strength, as well. There is an intimate interplay between calcium and cyclic nucleotide signaling in modulation of axon guidance through the mechanisms that involve soluble adenylyl cyclases, nitric oxide synthase (NOS), plasma membrane Ca⁺⁺ channels, and calcium-induced calcium release (CICR) [32, 33].

Overall, chemoattractants such as netrin-1 lead to membrane depolarization, while repellants such as Slit and Sema lead to membrane hyperpolarization by modulating Ca⁺⁺ influx [34-37]. As to cyclic nucleotides, their levels or rather ratios— particularly the cAMP to cGMP ratio— determine the growth cone response to guidance cues: high cAMP/cGMP ratio favors attraction and low cAMP/cGMP favors repulsion [38-40].

Even though the main bulk of data related to the role of calcium and cyclic nucleotides in axon guidance is based on *in vitro* studies, more and more data is emerging that supports their importance *in vivo*, as well [31].

1.3 Linking axon guidance receptor signaling to the actin cytoskeleton: Rho GTPases and their regulators— GAPs and GEFs

1.3.1 Rho family of GTPases and their involvement in guidance receptor signaling

In order to mediate the cellular response of the growth cone to its extracellular environment, guidance cue/receptor complexes must alter the growth cone morphology by modulating the local cytoskeleton [29]. The growth cone has three zones based on the type of prevailing cytoskeletal elements: the central zone is occupied mainly by microtubules (MTs), the peripheral zone is occupied mainly by actin or microfilaments (MFs), and finally, the transition zone represents the part of the growth cone, where microtubule and actin filaments overlap [16, 41, 42].

In order to be able to respond to the guidance cues, the growth cone has to maintain proper dynamics of both actin and microtubule cytoskeletons. In support of this, drugs such as nocodazole and latrunculin, which inhibit microtubule and actin polymerization, respectively, cause unidirectional axon outgrowth. This data suggests that the dynamic nature of both cytoskeletal elements is crucial for changing the growth cone direction [41]. Despite the equal importance of both cytoskeletal elements, actin is the primary target of guidance cue/receptor signaling as it predominates at the leading edge— the most motile part of the growth cone. In the leading edge, actin can form distinct type of superstructures: finger-like structures such as filopodia, and web-like structures as lamellipodia [2, 16, 29, 42-44]. During growth cone turning, the actin dynamics at the leading edge are exploited to direct the advance of microtubule [42]. The attractive cues promote actin polymerization at the periphery part of the growth cone, while the repulsive cues decrease it to produce turning effect towards or away from the source of a given cue, respectively [45]. In this regard, filopodia is particularly important as asymmetric filopodial growth is the starting point for the turning of the whole growth cone.

Although it is not fully understood how guidance cue/receptors signaling controls actin dynamics, it has been widely documented that they regulate, directly or indirectly, the activity of Rho family of small GTPases [2, 16, 29, 31, 42, 43, 45]. The Rho family of small GTPases, a subgroup of the Ras superfamily of small GTPases, are well-known for their roles in cell motility and regulation of cytoskeletal structures. The family contains well-studied members RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 along with some other relatively less-studied members. Pioneering work in fibroblasts have demonstrated that activation of RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 leads to formation of distinct actin based structures— stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia, respectively [46-48]

Even though originally it was thought that the attractive cues induce leading edge actin polymerization through Rac1 and Cdc42 activation and the repulsive cues induce retraction through RhoA activation, further research in the field revealed that the real case
is far more complex than this [31]. Work in fibroblasts, rat commissural neuron, and N1E-115 neuroblastomas showed that Netrin-DCC signaling increases Rac1 and Cdc42 activity, while decreasing RhoA activity [49-51]. Surprisingly, as opposed to its well reported repulsive role [25, 52], overexpression of Unc5a in N1E-115 neuroblastoma cells has been shown to induce neurite outgrowth by increasing Rac1 and Cdc42 activity [53]. Moreover, it has also been reported that netrin stimulation of Unc5a overexpressing N1E-115 neuroblastoma cells lead to transient Rac1 activation in early stages and RhoA activation in the later stages of neurite outgrowth [53]. Upon Sema stimulation, plexin-B1 directly interacts and sequesters active Rac1, along with activation of RhoA [54, 55]. However, Sema3A-plexin-A signaling activates Rac1 [56]. Slit-Robo signaling causes decreased Cdc42 activity and increased RhoA and Rac1 activity [57, 58]. Finally, ephrin-Eph forward signaling causes increased RhoA activity, but it also leads to transient decrease of Rac1 activity in retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) [59, 60], while Eph-ephrin reverse signaling activates Rac1 and Cdc42 [61]. As shown in these examples, there is no solid pattern of Rho GTPase signaling downstream of the guidance receptors and further research is required to fully comprehend their role in axon guidance [29, 31, 43]. First step toward this end can be to understand how the guidance receptor complexes lead to activation or inhibition of the Rho GTPases. Except for the case of Plexin-B1, generally guidance receptors do not interact with Rho GTPases directly, but rather deploy signaling adaptors and kinases to modulate the activity of their upstream regulators [29]. Rho GTPases, like Ras GTPases exist in two states: active, GTP-bound, and inactive, GDPbound. In their active state, Rho GTPases interact with their downstream effectors and modulate their functions. There are three groups of upstream regulators that control the activity of Rho GTPases: GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) stimulate the intrinsic low GTPase activity of Rho GTPases and act as negative regulators by switching the small GTPases from GTP-bound to GDP-bound state; guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) act as positive regulators by replacing the GDP with GTP, therefore, activating the small GTPases; finally, guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) binds GDP-bound form of the small GTPases and solubilize them, which inhibits the dissociation of GDP and keeps the small GTPase in its inactive state [43, 62, 63] (**Figure 1.1**).

1.3.2 General information about GEFs and GAPs

The first GAP protein— p50RhoGAP (ARHGAP1) — was identified almost thirty years ago, in 1989, from human spleen extract [64]. The first GEF protein— MCF-2/DBL (ARHGEF21)—, on the other hand, was identified four years earlier than that, in 1984, as an oncogene, using the NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblast focus formation assay [65]. Since then about 80 RhoGAPs and 82 RhoGEFs have been identified for 20 Rho GTPases in eukaryotes [45, 66, 67]. In all species, GAPs and GEFs outnumber Rho GTPases, which can be rationalized with four possible explanations: 1) despite the ubiquitous expression pattern of most GAPs/GEFs, some of them show tissue specificity; 2) some GAPs/GEFs are specific only for one member of the Rho GTPases, while the others are active towards multiple members, at least *in vitro*; 3) each GAP/GEF might be involved in specific RhoGTP-driven signaling pathways; 4) in addition to their conventional roles, GAPs/GEFs might act as scaffold proteins to mediate cross-talk between different GTPase pathways or the formation of protein complexes. Most likely, a combination of more than one of these possibilities is underlying the actual explanation [68].

There are two classes of RhoGEFs: diffuse B-cell lymphoma (DBL) and dedicator of cytokinesis (DOCK) families of proteins. There are 71 identified DBL GEFs, the classical GEFs, with characteristic DBL homology (DH) and pleckstrin homology (PH) domains. The DH domain catalyzes the GDP-GTP exchange, while the PH domain serves different functions such as localization to the plasma membrane, interaction with cytoskeletal proteins, and regulation of the DH catalytic activity. The DOCK family, however, is represented by 11 members, which contain DOCK-homology regions (DHR) 1 and 2. The DHR1 domain is involved in membrane localization and the DHR2 domain catalyzes the GDP-GTP exchange [45, 65-67, 69-73]. Another feature that distinguishes DOCK GEFs from DBL GEFs is that unlike DBL GEFs, DOCK GEFs activates only Rac and/or Cdc42, but not RhoA or the other members of Rho GTPases [70, 73]. RhoGAPs, on the other hand, are characterized by the presence of a conserved RhoGAP domain [68, 69]. In the current terminology RhoGAPs and DBL family of RhoGEFs are assigned a new, standardized names: Rho GTPase activating proteins (ARHGAPs) and Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factors (ARHGEFs), respectively. Both RhoGAPs and RhoGEFs are multidomain proteins with several lipid and/or protein interacting domains, which mediate their subcellular localization or formation of protein complexes. In addition, combination of different GAP and/or GEF domains can be found in a single GAP or GEF protein. This probably serves the purpose of linking different GTPase signaling pathways [68, 69]. For more in depth information about RhoGEFs and GAPs, their evolution, working mechanisms, and involvement in diseases we refer the readers to other review articles [45, 65-74].

1.3.3 RhoGAPs and GEFs in axon guidance

As the direct regulators of Rho GTPase, RhoGAPs and GEFs have been demonstrated to be implicated in axon guidance and pertaining signaling mechanisms [29-31, 42, 43, 45, 75, 76]. It is very cumbersome to identify the specific GAPs and GEFs that are involved in guidance receptor signaling pathways because of the following reasons: 1) GAPs/GEFs often show redundancy in their roles, 2) Individual GAPs/GEFs might be linked to several signaling pathways, 3) GAPs/GEFs generally participate only in part of a given pathway [29]. However, work done using cultured cells and in vivo animal models in past years have revealed several GAPs and GEFs as integral part of guidance receptor signaling [29-31, 42, 43, 45, 75, 76]. For example, mice lacking a Rhospecific GAP protein with high expression in the nervous system, p190RhoGAP (ARHGAP35), show clear guidance defects in the axonal projections of the posterior limb of the anterior commissure [77]. Here, we will briefly overview the well-established roles of RhoGAPs and GEFs in axon guidance, focusing particularly downstream of the four classic guidance cues and their receptor complexes (**Figure 1.2 and Table 1.1**).

1.3.3.1 Netrin-DCC

Although assigning a committed GEF and/or GAP protein to netrin-1/DCC signaling pathways have been elusive, recent work in the field has suggested two GEFs as potential candidates: Trio (ARHGEF23) and DOCK180 (DOCK1) GEFs [30, 75, 78-80]

Trio harbors two GEF domains: one is active toward Rac1 and RhoG and the second one is active for RhoA. Trio is a positive contributor of the embryonic *Drosophila* CNS and it can physically interact with both Frazzled and DCC [29, 31, 43]. The work by

Briancon-Marjollet et al. and DeGeer et al. has reported that Trio, together with Hsc70, mediates both Netrin-1/DCC-driven neurite outgrowth and DCC surface expression in the growth cone of embryonic rat cortical neurons [30, 75, 78]. Furthermore, cortical neurons from Trio^{-/-} mice do not show netrin-1-induced Rac1 activation and the mice display guidance defects similar to those of the DCC^{-/-} mice [78]. However, Trio cannot be the only GEF that is responsible for the netrin-1/DCC signaling as Trio^{-/-} mice show milder commissural axon guidance defects than DCC^{-/-} mice [31, 78]

DOCK180 is another GEF to be involved in netrin-1/DCC signaling. Like Trio, it interacts with DCC and activates Rac1. DOCK180 has been reported to participate in netrin-1/DCC induced and Rac1 mediated attraction, outgrowth, and turning of mouse cortical and commissural neurons. Its knockdown in the chick spinal cord leads to reduced midline crossing of commissural neurons [80]. Whether these two GEFs act in the same or parallel pathways is still not clear [29, 31, 43, 45].

1.3.3.2 Slit-Robo

The Slit/Robo-induced Rac1 activation provided an evidence for the fact that Rac activation can also contribute to the repulsive responses [57, 58, 81]. In *Drosophila*, Slit/Robo signaling and Rac activity is linked by specific RacGAP and GEF proteins. The GAP protein that is involved is a conserved RacGAP, vilse/CrGAP (ARHGAP39). Vilse/CrGAP is involved in slit-mediated midline repulsion of CNS axons. Interestingly, both increased and reduced levels of vilse/CrGAP causes dosage-dependent defects in slit/robo-induced repulsion, which indicates the importance of precise modulation of vilse/CrGAP activity [81, 82]. However, there should be other Rac regulators involved in slit/robo pathway as vilse mutants display only minor midline crossing defects [31].

Sos— a dual GEF with activity towards both Ras and Rho GTPases— is a promising candidate in that sense based on its expression in the *Drosophila* CNS, its genetic interaction with *slit* and *robo* mutants [83], and its interaction with the *Drosophila* ortholog of Nck adaptor protein— Dock [57]. Work using cultured human 293T cells has reported that upon Slit stimulation, Sos translocates to the plasma membrane, where it interacts with Robo and induces lamellipodia formation [84].

In line with the finding that slit/robo signaling leads to decreased Cdc42 activity [57, 58], Wu et al. [85] have reported that, upon its interaction with slit, robo interacts with and activates Slit-Robo Rho GTPase activating protein 1 (SrGAP1/ARHGAP13), which in turn inactivates Cdc42. The authors have reported that robo1 show tissue specific co-localization with SrGAP1 and 2 in the anterior sub-ventricular zone (SVZa) of neonatal mice. Moreover, they have shown that SrGAP1 co-immunoprecipitates with robo1 from rat neocortical extract. Further experiments using truncated SrGAP1 proteins have shown that the SH3 domain of SrGAP1 is sufficient to interact with the proline rich CC3 motif of robo1. In support of these data, using yeast two-hybrid system, Wong et al. [58] have demonstrated that the intracellular domain of the rat robo1 interacts strongly with SrGAP1, 2 and 3.

1.3.3.3 Sema-Plexin

In *Drosophila*, upon contact with Semaphorins, PlexinBs prevent the interaction of Rac with its effector by binding and sequestering active Rac [54]. Also, work from cultured cells suggests that active Rac increase both Plexin-B1 affinity towards Sema4D and its localization to the cell surface [86]. Meanwhile, Sema4D/Plexin-B1 signaling induces RhoA activity through two RhoGEFs— PDZ-RhoGEF (ARHGEF11) and Leukemia-associated RhoGEF (LARG/ARHGEF12) [54, 55]. Both of these GEFs interact directly with the PDZ-binding domain of Plexin-B1. Dominant-negative (DN) versions of PDZ-RhoGEF and LARG abolish Sema4D-induced growth cone collapse in hippocampal neurons [55].

Unlike Plexin-Bs, Plexin-A induces Rac activation, to mediate growth cone collapse [87]. A recent work in cultured chick dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons has reported that Sema3A signaling through Plexin-A/Npn-1 leads to suppression of neurite outgrowth [88]. Further examination of the downstream pathway has shown that the processes requires Rac1 activation through a FERM domain-containing GEF— FERM, RhoGEF, and pleckstrin domain-containing protein 2 (FARP2). FARP2 is normally associated with PlexinA1/Npn-1 and it is released upon Sema3A stimulation. This release activates the GEF activity of FARP2 and leads to elevated Rac1 activity.

The first GAP that has been implicated in the sema/plexin signaling pathway is p190RhoGAP. Barberis and colleagues [89] have reported that p190RhoGAP mediates Sema4D/PlexinB1-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 neuroblasts. They also report that p190RhoGAP plays role downstream of PlexinB1 signaling in various cell types such as fibroblasts, tumor epithelial and primary endothelial cells. Although this finding contradicts the mainly accepted idea that Sema4D/PlexinB1 signaling leads to RhoGEF-mediated, RhoA activation, authors claim that the two processes happen in temporally different manner [89]. Although they contribute to the formation of a more complete picture, the importance of these findings *in vivo* has yet to be validated [31].

1.3.3.4 Ephrin-Eph

Mutations in either of the genes encoding ephrinB3 or the receptor EphA4 lead to misrouting of interneuron axons of the mouse locomotor central pattern generator (CPG), the circuit necessary for coordinating alternating limb movement [90-95]. This subsequently leads to a particular phenotype called hopping gait [95]. The phenotype originates from defective ephrin-Eph forward signaling [92]. Interestingly, mutations in a gene encoding a Rac-specific GAP, ±-chimaerin result in an almost identical phenotype, hinting at the importance of ±-chimaerin-egulated Rac1 activity in ephrin-Eph forward signaling [90, 93, 94]. ±-chimaerin contains two domains that interact with EphA4: an N-terminal SH2 domain that binds to a phosphorylated juxtamembrane tyrosine residue of EphA4 and a C-terminal region that binds EphA4 constitutively. EphA4 mediates ephrinB3-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of ±-chimaerin, which increases its GAP activity towards Rac1 [93].

Surprisingly, the restoration of Rac1 activity also seems to be crucial for ephrin/Eph- driven growth cone collapse, particularly for class-B ephrin/Eph signaling [59, 87, 96, 97]. It seems that Rac1 activity-dependent endocytosis of ephrin/Eph complexes in *trans* to neighboring cells is an integral part of their repulsive mechanisms [98, 99]. Members of the Vav family of DBL GEFs— Vav2 and Vav3— have been reported to mediate Rac1-dependent endocytosis of ephrin/Eph ligand-receptor complexes [100].

Ephrin/Eph signaling also leads to RhoA activation through DBL family RhoGEFs— ephexins. Two members of ephexin, ephexin1/NGEF (ARHGEF27) and ephexin5/VSM-RhoGEF (ARHGEF15), are expressed in the mouse brain [101]. Depletion of mouse ephexin1 and chick ortholog c-ephexin leads to defects in ephrinA- induced growth cone collapse and axon repulsion, as well as, defects in axon outgrowth [101].

In parallel to the forward signaling, ephrinB can behave as a receptor and induce reverse signaling upon contacting cognate Ephs [102]. DOCK180 has been reported to be implicated in ephrinB3-driven reverse signaling in stereotyped pruning of exuberant mossy fiber axons in the hippocampus. Nck2 adapter protein appears to link eprinB3 to DOCK180-mediated activation of Rac1 and Cdc42, which subsequently leads to axon retraction [61].

1.3.4 Regulators of Rho GTPases in neurological disorders

In this section, we will overview the GAP and GEF proteins that have been implicated in neurological diseases and disorders. We will focus mainly on the work published from mammalian research, in particular from human cases. In each subsection, we will briefly introduce the GAP or the GEF and then proceed to the work published about their implications in neurological diseases and disorders (**Table 1.2**). Finally, we will only review the DBL family of GEFs as the implication of the DOCK family of GEFs in neurological diseases has already been reviewed elsewhere [73].

1.3.4.1 GAPs

1.3.4.1a ARHGAP2 (±-chimaerin/CHN1)

The chimaerin subfamily of RhoGAPs has Rac1-specific GAP activity. The subfamily contains five members (± 1 -, ± 2 -, $^2 1$ -, $^2 2$ -, and $^2 3$ - chimaerins), all of which are the results of alternative splicing of two genes, ARHGAP2 (CHN1) and ARHGAP3

(CHN2). By controlling Rac1 activity, ± 1 -chimaerin plays a crucial role in the regulation of dendritic growth during neuronal development [103-105]. By comparing the expression levels of ± 1 - and ± 2 chimaerin in postmortem brains of individuals with AD or unaffected individuals, Kato et al. [104] have demonstrated that ± 1 -chimaerin mRNA levels are significantly reduced in the temporal lobe of the AD patients in comparison to brains of unaffected individuals. However, no significant difference has been observed in the levels of ± 2 -chimaerin expression between the two groups.

 ± 2 -chimaerin, a close relative of ± 1 -chimaerin, has been implicated in axon guidance and is highly expressed in developing ocular motor neurons in rats and mice [90, 91, 93, 106]. Recently, two related studies [106, 107], have demonstrates that several missense mutations leading to enhanced dimerization and Rac1-GAP activity of ±2chimaerin causes Duane's retraction syndrome (DRS) with strabismus phenotype. DRS is a congenital eye movement disorder caused by defects in the innervation of extraocular muscles by the axons of brainstem motor neurons. In support of this, a study by Ferrario and colleagues [108] have shown that Semaphorin 3A and 3C (Sema3A/C)/PlexinA signaling acts upstream of ± 2 -chimaerin to modulate the axon guidance of ocular motor neurons. However, implications of ± 2 -chimaerins in CNS is not limited to DRS. Using global and conditional knock-out mouse models, Iwata et al. [103] have demonstrated that deletion of ± 2 -chimaerin gene but, not ± 1 -chimaerin in early development leads to defects in contextual fear learning. The authors have also shown that this effect is not observed, if ± 2 -chimaerin is deleted in adulthood, which suggests that ± 2 -chimaerin acts during development to establish adulthood cognitive abilities.

1.3.4.1b ARHGAP15

ARHGAP15 is a Rac-specific GAP protein. ARHGAP15 is expressed in both excitatory and inhibitory neurons of the adult hippocampus [109]. In a recent study by Zamboni and colleagues [109], ARHGAP15 has been associated with cognitive defects in mice. Authors have shown that loss of ARHGAP15 causes increased Rac1/3 activity, which leads to defects in the directionality and efficiency of migration of inhibitory neurons. These defects caused a reduction in numbers of inhibitory neurons and, subsequently, an alteration of the balance between inhibitory and excitatory synapses in favor of the latter, in hippocampus. As a result of the aforementioned changes, defects in hippocampus-dependent functions such as working and associative memories were observed in adult ARHGAP15^{-/-} mice. The study stresses the importance of Rac activity and its precise regulation in developing hippocampal neurons.

1.3.4.1c ARHGAP18 (MacGAP, SENEX)

ARHGAP18 is a RhoA and RhoC-specific GAP protein [110]. Recently, in two related publications [111, 112], authors have used functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) and genome-wide association study (GWAS) to identify novel schizophrenia associated genes. As a result, they have identified *ARHGAP18* as a Schizophrenia associated gene. Similar results have also been published by Guo et al., using Chinese-Han population as the target [113].

1.3.4.1d ARHGAP28

ARHGAP28 is a RhoA-specific GAP protein [114]. In a recent study by Jiang et al. [115], a point mutation in *ARHGAP28* gene has been associated to the most common type of migraines— migraine without aura (MWO). Migraine is a group of recurrent

headache disorder that is clinically characterized with neuropsychiatric aspects. Authors have targeted a cohort of 8 individuals— 4 with MWO and 4 without MWO. In 4 individuals with MWO, authors have detected mutations in six genes, one of which is *ARHGAP28*. A missense mutation in the *ARHGAP28* gene, which converts the threonine 31 residue to serine (T31S), reduced the ARHGAP28 expression, elevated RhoA and ROCK activities, resulting in cerebral vasoconstriction, spasm and migraine, as well as, an increase in the intensity of inflammatory reaction in the brain [115].

1.3.4.1e ARHGAP32 (p250GAP)

ARHGAP32 is a GAP protein with GAP activity towards Cdc42, Rac1, and RhoA [116, 117]. It is highly enriched in the CNS, where it is the primary target of the neuronal-specific microRNA— miR132. miR132 promotes neurite outgrowth by inhibiting ARHGAP32 expression [118]. A recent study [119] exploiting the mouse model of the Huntington's disease (HD) has shown that miR132 levels in this model is severely reduced, leading to increased expression of its primary target— ARHGAP32. HD is a dominant-inherited disease caused by the expansion of a CAG repeat in the *huntingtin (htt)* gene. The disease is currently incurable and eventually fatal. This study suggests that the cellular level of ARHGAP32 is important for proper brain development [119].

1.3.4.1f ARHGAP14 (srGAP3) and ARHGAP34 (srGAP2)

ARHGAP34 and ARHGAP14, better known as srGAP2 and srGAP3, respectively, are members of the Slit-Robo GTPase-activating protein subfamily (SrGAP) of RhoGAP with Rac1-specific GAP activity [120-122]. SrGAP2 is expressed in the

entire developing cortex and it prevents neuronal migration and promotes neurite outgrowth and neurite branching. SrGAP has also been shown to interact with robo1 and to regulate Cdc42 activity in slit-robo-dependent manner [58, 85]. A study by Saitsu and colleagues [122] has shown that a balanced translocation mutation that disrupts *srGAP2* gene leads to early infantile epileptic encephalopathy. SrGAP3 is highly expressed in the cortex and hippocampus, structures with crucial importance in the higher cognitive functions. It has been reported that the loss of one of the *srGAP3* copes as a result of a translocation mutation is associated with mental retardation (MR) [123]. In a more recent study [120], SrGAP has been demonstrated to be involved in spine development and its loss has been implicated in disruption of long-term memory.

1.3.4.1g ARHGAP33 (TCGAP)

ARHGAP33 is a Cdc42-specific GAP protein that is prominently expressed in developing and mature brain. It is involved in neurite outgrowth and branching, as well as, dendrite arborization and morphology [124, 125]. In two independent studies, ARHGAP33 has been implicated in neuropsychiatric developmental disorders, such as autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) and schizophrenia. Schuster et al., [126] have demonstrated that ARHGAP33 regulates dendritic spine maturation, synaptic transmission, and social behavior in mice, in a gender-specific manner. Authors show that loss of ARHGAP33 causes autism-like alteration in social behavior. In a more recent study [127], ARHGAP33-deficient mice show impaired dendritic spine morphology in the hippocampus, which leads to several behavioral defects such as working memory, learning, habituation, and anxiety, similar to the ones that are observed in neuropsychiatric developmental disorders [128, 129]. Using immortalized human lymphocytes, the authors showed that the expression level of ARHGAP33 was lower in 45 schizophrenia patients in comparison to 45 sex/age-matched controls. They also showed that the genetic variation in the *ARHGAP33* gene is associated with Schizophrenia. In line with these data, authors have demonstrated that polymorphisms in ARHGAP33 may be linked to several schizophrenia related vulnerabilities in the brain morphology [127].

1.3.4.1h ARHGAP41 (oligophrenin-1/OPHN1)

ARHGAP41, better known as oligophrenin-1 (OPHN1), is a RhoGAP that is highly expressed in the brain. It was first identified as the gene that is mutated in patients with X-linked mental retardation (XLMR) [130-132]. Mental retardation (MR), recently renamed as intellectual disability (ID), is an early onset condition with subaverage intellectual functioning (IQ<70). It is defined as a non-progressive reduction in cognitive abilities [130, 132, 133]. Oligophrenin-1 was shown to have GAP activity towards RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 [131]. Studies on more XLMR cases by different research groups have proven that different deletion and duplications in the *OPHN1* gene cause X-linked mental retardation with a myriad of clinical and morphological phenotypes such as epilepsy, rostral ventricular enlargement, cerebellar hypoplasia, neonatal hypotonia, early onset seizures, marked strabismus, and language impairments [130-132, 134-136].

1.3.4.1i ARHGAP43 (SH3BP1/3BP1)

ARHGAP43, better known as SH3 domain binding protein 1 (SH3BP1), is a Rac1, Cdc42, and TC10-specific GAP protein [137, 138]. *SH3BP1* gene resides upstream of the gene encoding haloacid dehydrogenase family phosphatase chronophin (CIN/PDXP)

[138]. Recently, an mRNA transcript that is a partial fusion of SH2BP1 and CIN gene products has been linked to Alzheimer's disease (AD) [138]. The authors have named this mRNA and the protein it encodes BARGIN or BGIN. The study demonstrates that the C-terminal end of the BGIN non-covalently binds to poly-ubiquitin, which promotes its membrane localization, which, subsequently, leads to the inactivation of Rac1. In addition, the authors have observed BGIN-Ub interaction in tangled aggregates in AD brain. AD is caused by the accumulation of β-amyloid (Aβ) plaques and is the leading cause of dementia. Finally, using an amyloid precursor protein (APP) model, they have documented that BGIN mediates, at least partially, Rac1 inhibition and reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation.

1.3.4.1j ARHGAP44 (RICH2/Nadrin1)

ARHGAP44 is a Rac1 and Cdc42-specific GAP protein. It has important role in the CNS during dendritic spine morphogenesis. It was first identified as an interacting partner of SHANK3— a SHANK family member that coordinates structural and functional changes in the post-synaptic compartments [139, 140]. Since SHANK family has been closely associated with ASD and schizophrenia, its interaction with SHANK3 suggests an involvement of ARHGAP44 in neuropsychiatric diseases as well. To address this, Sarowar et al. have created an ARHGAP44^{-/-} mouse line [140]. They have shown that depletion of ARHGAP44 leads to increase in the spine volume and the number of spines with multiple head. At the behavioral level, the authors have observed ASD like traits such as stereotypic behavior, specific phobia, and abnormal motor behavior [140].

1.3.4.1k ARAP1, ARAP3, ARHGAP12, ARHGAP29, ARHGAP40, and HMHA1 (ARHGAP45)

By analyzing the gene expression profile of skin fibroblasts obtained from either healthy individuals or individuals with bipolar disorder (BD), Logotheti et al. [141] found that genes involved in small GTPases-mediated signal transduction are downregulated. Among these genes, authors mention ARAP1 and 3, ARHGAP12, 29, 40, and Minor Histocompatibility Antigen HA-1 (HMHA1/ARHGAP45), all of which are GAPs for the Rho GTPases. ARAP (ArfGAP and RhoGAP with ankyrin repeat and PH domains) subfamily contains both ArfGAP and RhoGAP domains, which allow them to regulate both families of small GTPases [142, 143]. HMHA1 is a cancer therapeutic target with a RhoGAP activity [144, 145]. ARHGAP 12 and 29 are ubiquitously expressed and they carry GAP activities towards Rac1 and RhoA, respectively [146-148].

1.3.4.11 ARHGAP46 (GMIP)

ARHGAP46, better known as GEM-interacting protein (GMIP), is a ubiquitously expressed protein with RhoA-specific GAP activity. It is crucial for neurite growth, axonal guidance, neuronal migration, and synaptic functions [149, 150]. Tadokoro et al., [150] have shown that ARHGAP46-related SNPs are associated with major depressive disorder (MDD) in Japanese population, particularly in male subjects.

1.3.4.1m Myosin IXb (MYO9B)

MYO9B is a RhoA-specific GAP protein that has been associated with autoimmune disease— celiac disease [151, 152]. In their search for a candidate gene that could fit the long-thought association between autoimmune diseases and schizophrenia,

Jungerius and colleagues [151] have tested the hypothesis that MYO9B is the candidate gene. Interestingly, they show strong correlation between MYO9B associated SNPs and schizophrenia.

1.3.4.1n Ral binding protein 1 (RalBP1/RLIP76)

RalBP1 is a Rac1 and Cdc42-specific GAP protein. It also has GAP activity towards the Ras like GTPases (Ral GTPases), which renders RalBP1 crucial for crosstalk of Ras-Rho signaling [153, 154]. Interestingly, it can also activate Rac1 in GTP-R-Rasdependent and Ral-independent manner, through Arf6 GTPase activity [155]. In forebrain, hippocampal CA1 neurons show the highest expression level of RalBP1. Using mouse RalBP1 hypomorphs— RalBP1 expression is only 18% of the WT levels—, Bae et al. showed that, although it does not cause seizures per se, reduction in the RalBP1 levels renders mice more susceptible to seizures by reducing the seizure threshold. Authors claim that the study is the first of its kind to implicate RhoGTPase signaling in seizures [153]. Also, more and more data are emerging, which supports a role for RalBP1 as a mediator of pharmacoresistance in the CNS; however, further research needs to be done in order to substantiate these data [156].

1.3.4.2 GEFs

1.3.4.2a ARHGEF2 (GEFH1)

ARHGEF2, better known as GEF-H1, is a microtubule-associated RhoAspecific GEF protein. It links actin and microtubule dynamics. ARHGEF2 plays important roles in mitotic spindle formation and orientation. It is expressed by neural precursors and immature neurons in mouse neocortex. ARHGEF2 play important roles in the CNS in processes ranging from axonal re-networking, dendritic spine retraction, general gene expression, neurogenesis to neural tube closure by mediating RhoA activity [157-159]. A case study [158] has demonstrated that a loss-of-function mutation leading to truncated ARHGEF2 protein, causes intellectual disability (ID), mild microcephaly, and midbrain-hindbrain malformations. Authors have also demonstrated that mice lacking ARHGEF2 show significant reduction in the volume of the total brain size (microencephaly), the cerebellum, and the brain stem, as well as, absence of pontine nuclei. These defects recapitulate the phenotypes that have been observed in the human patients and proposes a conserved role for ARHGEF2 in humans and mice. In another study, Varma et al. [159] have demonstrated that ARHGEF2-mediated RhoA activation protects rat striatal neuronal cells against MT depolymerizing agents. Interestingly, this rescue phenomenon has been observed only when the neuronal cells express the mutant version of the Htt protein, but not the wild type (WT) version. Considering that the mutation in *Htt* gene leads to Huntington's disease (HD), this study suggests a possible neuroprotective role for the ARHGEF2-mediated modulation of RhoA activity in HD.

1.3.4.2b ARHGEF6 (αPIX/Cool-2)

ARHGEF6 is a Rac1/Cdc42-specific GEF protein. It is ubiquitously expressed in different tissues [160, 161]. In brain, ARHGEF6 has been shown to be expressed in hippocampal CA1-CA3 cells layer and in cultured neurons it has been shown to co-localize with PSD95 protein at postsynaptic densities of excitatory synapses [162]. In the CNS, ARHGEF6 plays a role in axonal and dendritic branching, regulation of spine morphogenesis, and synapse formation [160]. Loss of ARHGEF6 in mice leads to reduced active Rac1 and Cdc42 levels, altered dendritic morphology, decreased long-

term potentiation (LTP), increased long-term depression (LDP), and several behavioral abnormalities such as navigation errors, disinhibited object exploration, and impairment of complex positional learning [160]. Also, *ARHGEF6* is one of the three RhoGEF encoding genes to be involved in XLMR along with *faciogenital dysplasia protein 1* (*FGD1*) and *ARHGEF9* (*collybistin*). A translocation mutation, which targets the first intron of the *ARHGEF6* gene and leads to the expression of truncated *ARHGEF6* transcript (lacking exon 2), was found to XLMR in the male individuals of a Dutch family by Kutsche et al [160, 163].

1.3.4.2c ARHGEF9 (collybistin)

ARHGEF9, also known as collybistin, is a Cdc42-specific GEF protein with high expression in the developing and adult brain [164]. ARHGEF9 has been shown to mediate the translocation of gephyrin to the postsynaptic membrane micro-aggregates, which in turn regulates clustering of the receptors for inhibitory neurotransmitters— glycine and ³-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) [165]. Therefore, ARHGEF9 is an important component of the inhibitory synapses [164]. Several case studies have revealed mutations in the *ARHGEF9* gene leading to XLMR, ASD, along with phenotypes such as seizures and epilepsy [164, 166-171]. A dominant-negative missense mutation, p.G55A, has been linked to a severe mental retardation, hyperekplexia, drug-resistant seizures, and premature death in a male patient [164]. A separate study [171], have identified a microdeletion and a nonsense mutation in *ARHGEF9* gene causing loss-of-function in two male individuals. The common symptoms for both patients were mental retardation (MR) and epilepsy. Moreover, a missense mutation in *ARHGEF9* gene, p.R338W, has been identified, which causes structural disruption of the ARHGEF9 protein, in several

members of a family with XLMR, macrocephaly, and macro-orchidism [169]. Yet another missense mutation was identified by carrying out genetic analysis on an Ethiopian-Jewish family with four affected male individuals, the authors have found a p.G323R mutation. All the affected individuals had intellectual disability, focal epilepsy, and febrile seizures [168]. However, ARHGEF9 mutations are not limited to point mutation: two translocation mutations in two different female individuals have been reported. In one of the cases mutation led to epilepsy, anxiety, aggression, and MR, while in the other case, the patient had XLMR and sensory hyperarousal [167, 170]. Finally, an 82 kb deletion including *ARHGEF9* gene has been detected in an 8-years-old female with ASD, intellectual disability, and speech delay [166]. All these case studies stresses that ARHGEG9 and its function in gehphyrin mediated post-synaptic membrane organization in inhibitory synapses is of critical importance.

1.3.4.2d ARHGEF10

ARHGEF10 is a RhoA-specific GEF protein [172]. It is expressed in wide range of tissues with relatively high expression in the spinal cord and dorsal root ganglion. ARHGEF10 has been shown to be involved in neuronal growth, axonal migration, and to be implicated in human hypomyelination [173]. A missense mutation in the exon 3 of the *ARHGEF10* gene has been shown to cause non-clinical slowed nerve-conduction velocity. The mutation has shown to be inherited in autosomal dominant fashion and to cause increased GEF activity [174]. In addition, *ARHGEF10* gene has been shown to be associated with Charcot-Marie-Tooth (CMT) disease, a heterogeneous mix of hereditary motor and sensory neuropathies in humans [172, 175]. To check the association between CMT genes and chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN), Beutler and

colleagues have studied 49 CMT genes in a large cohort of cancer patients. During the study, the patients have been administered paclitaxel, a chemotherapy agent. The authors have identified three non-synonymous SNP in *ARHGEF10* gene to be highly associated with CIPN, one of them (rs9657362) showing the strongest association with neuroprotective effect [172]. This study has been successfully replicated in an independent cohort of patients [175]. Another mutation in the *ARHGEF10* gene, a deletion mutation leading to the loss of 50% of its protein product, has been shown to associate with juvenile-onset inherited polyneuropathy in Leonberger and Saint Bernard dogs. The affected dogs had severe symptoms such as axonal degeneration with progressive clinical signs of weakness and muscle atrophy leading to decreased nerve fiber density and chronic nerve fiber loss [173].

1.3.4.2e ARHGEF13 (A-kinase anchor protein 13 (AKAP13)/LBC/BRX)

ARHGEF13, better known as AKAP13, is a Rho-specific GEF protein that belongs to A-kinase anchor protein family (AKAP). This family is composed of more than 50 proteins encoded by 10 *AKAP* genes. These proteins share the ability of linking protein kinase A (PKA) to its targets. Recently, using bioinformatics and extensive manual literature mining, Poelmans et al. [176] have demonstrated that AKAPs can be candidate drug targets for the treatment of autism spectrum disorders (ASDs). By analyzing the results of 6 previously published GWASs and emerging signaling networks related to ASDs, they have shown that AKAPs are integrating signaling cascades within and between these networks. AKAP13 positively regulates RhoA, a small GTPase that is involved in neurite outgrowth, regulation of synaptic networks, and modulation of the effect of risperidone treatment for ASDs. In addition, AKAP13 gene has been found in copy number variations (CNVs) in ASDs patients and its mRNA product is a target of ASDs related microRNAs. AKAP13 is also involved in two ASD-implicated biological processes— innate immunity and melatonin synthesis. Furthermore an AKAP13-derived peptide, Ht31, block 'masculinization' of a part of the rat brain. Finally, transgenic mice with conditional Ht31 expression in the hippocampus show ASD-like cognitive defects. Overall, these findings reveal AKAP13 as a promising candidate for ASD-targeted drug development.

1.3.4.2f ARHGEF23 (Trio)

ARHGEF23, better known as Trio, is a large, multi-domain protein with two separate GEF domains— GEF1 and GEF2. The GEF1 domains is active towards Rac1 and RhoG, while the GEF2 domain is active towards RhoA, which renders Trio a crucial signaling component in crosslinking RhoA-Rac1- mediated pathways [177, 178]. Trio is highly expressed in the developing brain of rodents and humans, especially in the cerebellum, cortex, hippocampus and thalamus [179, 180]. Interestingly, Trio expression decreases gradually in the adult brain [177-179]. Work done in C. elegans, Drosophila, rodents, as well as human patients has reported that Trio plays a crucial role in the regulation of dendrite, dendritic spine, and synapse development and function [177, 181-183]. Moreover, Trio has been documented to participate in netrin-1/DCC mediated-axon guidance in Drosophila and rodents [30, 75, 78, 184]. The importance of Trio can be highlighted with the fact that complete knockout of TRIO in the mouse nervous system is embryonically lethal [185]. Also, hippocampal or cortex-specific depletion of TRIO in the mouse brain results in the malformation of these structures, subsequently, leading to defective learning ability [186]. In line with its extensive involvement in the brain

development, mutations in the TRIO gene have been associated with neurological and neurodevelopment disorders such as intellectual disability (ID), schizophrenia, developmental delay, bipolar disorder (BD), and autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) [177, 178, 187-193]. The first such mutation has been reported by de Light et al. [187]. The authors have identified two disparate missense mutations in the TRIO gene of two patients with severe ID. However, the study has not been able to link the Trio gene to ID conclusively, as both patients have also harbored mutation in other well-established IDrelated genes. A year later, a deletion mutation partially including TRIOgene has been reported to cause mild ID, developmental delay, behavioral defects, and facial dysmorphism [193]. Recently, more disease-causing de novo mutations have been identified in the TRIO gene. Ba and colleagues have identified four point mutations three truncation and one frameshift mutation-leading to mild ID and behavioral defects [177]. Using rat hippocampal neurons, the authors have shown that the mutations leads to increased dendritic arborization and altered synaptic functions. In another study [191], several mutations in a part of the TRIO gene encoding GEF1 domain have been associated with ID and microcephaly. Finally, in an interesting study [178], Katrancha and colleagues have examined the effect of disease-causing mutations of the TRIO gene in its encoded protein. They have concluded that the majority of the mutations are localized to the GEF1 domain of the protein, thereby reducing its Rac1-GEF activity. Collectively, all these animal and human case studies underlie the importance of TRIO, in particular its Rac1-GEF activity, in the developing brain.

1.3.4.2g ARHGEF24 (Kalirin)

ARHGEF24, better known as Kalirin, is a Rac1-specific GEF protein [194-196]. Kalirin is a vertebrate paralog of Trio [178]. Kalirin gene has multiple promoters and transcriptional start sites, which lead to multiple isoform production [196, 197]. The most common Kalirin isoforms are Kalirin-7, -9, and -12. Kalirin is expressed in wide range of tissues such as brain, endocrine cells, liver, muscle, and heart. In neuronal tissue, Kalirin-9 and -12 are very abundant during the development. These two isoforms localize to the growth cone and neurites of immature neurons. The adult brain, on the other hand, expresses high level of Kalirin-7, which localizes to the postsynaptic compartments of excitatory synapses [197] Kalirin has also been implicated in ephrinB-EphB-mediated dendritic spine morphogenesis [198]. Cahill et al. [194] have demonstrated that Kalirin-7 knock-out mice shows reduced cortical Rac1 activity and spine density, which leads to disease-related behavioral phenotypes such as impaired working memory, sociability, and prepulse inhibition problems. These findings are in line with the suggested function of Kalirin-7 in spine/synapse formation both in vitro and in vivo. Kalirin-7 has also been implicated in cocaine addiction in mice— its expression is upregulated in medium spiny neurons (MSNs) of the nucleus accumbens (NAc)— a brain area associated with drug addiction and reward pathways—, upon chronic cocaine treatment. This upregulation leads to increased spine density, which is abolished in Kalirin-7 knock-out mice [197]. Furthermore, reduced forebrain Kalirin-7 expression has been observed in schizophrenia and AD [195, 199, 200]. Several studies have also associated Kalirin-7 gene with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), depression, epilepsy, and ischemic strokes [194-197]. Overall, similar to its paralog Trio, Kalirin seems to be of substantial importance in the CNS.

1.3.4.2h ARHGEF36 (DNMBP)

ARHGEF36, better known as dynamin-binding protein (DNMBP), is a Cdc42specific GEF protein [201]. DNMBP has high density at the periphery of presynaptic vesicle clusters, where it has been shown to co-localize with synapse-enriched proteins, amphiphysin-1 and dynamin-1 [201, 202]. As a scaffolding protein, DNMBP brings dynamin and actin regulators together at the synaptic membranes to mediate events such as synaptic vesicle recycling. Because of its role in the recycling of amyloid precursor protein (APP), DNMBP is a promising candidate to be involved in the AD pathology [201, 202]. Therefore, two independent studies, targeting cohorts of late-onset AD patients in Japanese and Belgian populations, have associated SNPs in the *DNMBP* gene to late-onset AD [201, 202]. Furthermore, it has been reported that the expression level of the *DNMBP* gene is reduced in AD brain by using post-mortem brain sections from AD and age-matched unaffected individuals [201].

1.3.4.2i ARHGEF42 (CLG/PLEKHG2)

ARHGEF42 is a Rac1 and Cdc42-specific GEF protein. It is only present in rodents and mammals [203]. Recently, a case study [203] has identified a missense mutation in *ARHGEF42* gene— p.R204W— that leads to reduced GEF activity and, consequently, impairment of Stromal Cell-derived Factor 1a (SDF1a)-stimulated actin polymerization. Five children, affected with the mentioned mutation, have shown profound MR, dystonia, postnatal microcephaly, and distinct neuroimaging patterns.

1.3.4.2j ARHGEF44 (Puratrophin-1/PLEKHG4)

ARHGEF44, better known as PLEKHG4, is a GEF protein that activates RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42. It is expression levels vary in different tissues— from high expression in the testis to whole brain. In the mouse brain, PLEKHG4 is expressed in the brainstem, cerebellum, and midbrain [204, 205]. However, only the cerebellar expression is sustained in the adult brain, especially in the Purkinje neurons. In line with the cerebellar expression of PLEKHG4, using positional cloning, Ishikawa and colleagues [205] have demonstrated that single nucleotide substitution in the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of the *PLEKHG4* gene is associated with autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia (ADCA), a group of heterogeneous neurodegenerative disorders.

1.3.4.2k Alsin

Alsin is the product of *ALS2* gene. Alsin has GEF activity towards Rac, Ran, and Rab5, which makes it an important regulator of signaling by distinct small GTPases [206, 207]. The *ALS2* gene produces two products by alternative splicing: the long (6394 nt) and the short (2651 nt) variants [206-208]. Mutations in the *ALS2* gene have been shown to cause infantile-onset ascending hereditary spastic paraplegia (IAHSP), juvenile-onset primary lateral sclerosis (JPLS), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). HSP, PLS, and ALS are genetically heterogeneous neurodegenerative diseases characterized by primary degeneration of motor neurons [206-208]. Initially it was proposed that the mutations that affect only the long variant cause JPLS, while the mutations that affect both variants cause the more severe form, ALS [206]. However, a study by Eymard-Pierre et al. [206] has argued against this by showing that a mutation affecting both variants of *alsin* transcripts shows no sign of lower motor involvement in affected patient.

1.3.4.2l Faciogenital dysplasia protein 1 (FGD1)

FGD1 is a Cdc42-specific GEF protein [209, 210]. Mutations in the different domains of FGD1 gene have been implicated in the Aarskog-Scott syndrome— a rare, X-linked recessive disorder that is characterized by short stature and exhibit unique skeletal and genital development [209]. In addition, FGD1 is another one of the GEF encoding genes to be mutated in XLMR. A case study conducted by Lebel and colleagues has shown that a missense mutation in FGD1 gene leads to the substitution of the leucine residue at the position 312 with a proline (L312P) is associated with severe cognitive impairments [211].

1.3.4.2m VAV1 and 3

The VAV family proteins carry GEF activity towards RhoA, RhoG, Rac1, and Cdc42. There are three VAV proteins in mammals: VAV1, 2, and 3. While VAV2 and 3 are expressed in several tissues, VAV1 is mainly restricted to haematopoietic lineage [212]. Using experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a rat model of multiple sclerosis (MS)— a chronic inflammatory disease that damages myelin sheaths and nerve fibers—, an association has been detected between VAV1 and MS [213]. The authors of the work have observed that VAV1 expression is elevated in rats and have suggested that VAV1 may have a role in MS. Furthermore, pursuing a preceding Japanese GWAS analysis of schizophrenia [214], Aleksic and colleagues have revealed VAV3 to be a candidate gene for schizophrenia based on Voxel-Based Morphometry and Mutation Screening [215].

1.4 Conclusion

As described in the preceding sections, the Rho family of small GTPases and their regulators, in particular GAPs and GEFs, are crucial downstream components of guidance cue/receptor signaling pathways and dysregulation of their activity may lead to serious physiological complications. Consequently, more and more data are emerging which draw connections between the regulators of Rho GTPases and various diseases and disorders. In this chapter, we tried to amass published data describing the involvement of GAPs and GEFs in neurological disorders, especially in humans. However, our wok does not tell the whole story as more finding related to the role of GAPs and GEFs in the CNS are being uncovered and, even more have yet to be unveiled.

Figures and Tables for Chapter 1

Figure 1.1. The mechanism of the regulation of the small Rho GTPases

The Rho family of small GTPases shuttle between active, GTP-bound, and inactive, GDP-bound, states. This cycles is coordinated by three classes of proteins regulatory protein: 1) GEFs (Guanine nucleotide-exchange factors), which activates the small GTPases by perfoming the GDP to GTP exchange; 2) GAPs (GTPase-activating proteins), which inactivate the small GTPases by enhancing their intrinsic ability to hydrolyze the GTP to GDP; and 3) GDIs (Guanine nucleotide-dissociation inhibitors), which sequester the small GTPases in their GDP-bound, inactive state.



Figure 1.2. The classic guidance cues, their receptors, and their effect on the small Rho GTPases

A schematic representation of the regulation of the Rho GTPases by different guidance cue/receptor combinations.



| Ligand | Receptor | GAPs involved | GEFs involved |
|------------|-------------------|----------------------|---------------------|
| Netrin | DCC | - | Trio, |
| | | | (ARHGEF23) |
| | | | DOCK180 |
| Semaphorin | Plexin/Neuropilin | p190RhoGAP | PDZ-RhoGEF |
| - | _ | (ARHGAP35) | (ARHGEF11), |
| | | | LARG |
| | | | (ARHGEF12), |
| | | | FARP2 |
| Slit | Robo | vilse/CrGAP | Sos |
| | | (ARHGAP39), | |
| | | SrGAP | |
| | | (ARHGAP13) | |
| Ephrin | Eph | ±-chimaerin | VAV2 and 3, |
| - | - | (ARHGAP2) | ephexin1/NGEF, |
| | | | (ARHGEF27) |
| | | | ephexin5/VSMRho-GEF |
| | | | (ARHGEF15) |
| | | | |

Table 1.1. GAPs and GEFs in guidance cue/receptor signaling pathways

| Diseases and disorders | GAPs Involved | GEFs Involved | Studied organisms |
|-------------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-------------------|
| Bipolar disorder | ARAP1, | Trio | Human |
| | ARAP3, | | |
| | ARHGAP12, | | |
| | ARHGAP29, | | |
| | ARHGAP40, | | |
| | HMHA1 | | |
| | (ARHGAP45) | | |
| Cognitive | ARHGAP15, | ARHGEF6, | Mouse |
| complications | ±-chimaerin | Trio | |
| | (ARHGAP2) | (ARHGEF23), | |
| | | Kalirin | |
| | | (ARHGEF24) | |
| Schizophrenia | ARHGAP18, | Kalirin | Human |
| | ARHGAP33, | (ARHGEF24), | |
| | Myosin IXb | Trio | |
| | | (ARHGEF23), | |
| | | VAV3 | |
| Migraine | ARHGAP28 | | Human |
| Huntington's disease | ARHGAP32 | GEFH1 | Mouse, |
| | | (ARHGEF2) | Rat |
| Austism spectrum | ARHGAP33, | AKAP13 | Human, |
| disorders | ARHGAP44 | (ARHGEF13), | Mouse |
| | | Collybistin | |
| | | (ARHGEF9), | |
| | | Trio | |
| | | (ARHGEF23) | |
| Depressive disorders | GMIP | Kalirin | Human, |
| | (ARHGAP46) | (ARHGEF24) | Rat, |
| | | | Mouse |
| Intellectual disability | Oligophrenin | GEFH1 | Human, |
| | (ARHGAP41), | (ARHGEF2), | Mouse |
| | srGAP3 | ARHGEF6, | |
| | (ARHGAP14) | FGD1, | |
| | | Collybistin | |
| | | (ARHGEF9), | |
| | | Trio | |
| | | (ARHGEF23), | |
| | | ARHGEF42 | |
| Seizure | RalBP1 | Collybistin | Human, |
| | | (ARHGEF9) | Mouse |
| | | | |

 Table 1.2. GAPs and GEFs in neurological diseases and disorders

| Alzheimer's disease | SH3BP1 | DNMBP | Human |
|------------------------|--------------------|-------------|--------|
| | (ARHGAP43), | (ARHGEF36), | |
| | ±-chimaerin | Kalirin | |
| | (ARHGAP2) | (ARHGEF24) | |
| Infantile epileptic | srGAP2 | | Human |
| encephalopathy | (ARHGAP34) | | |
| Duane's retraction | ±-chimaerin | | Human |
| syndrome | (ARHGAP2) | | |
| Amyotrophic lateral | | Alsin | Human |
| sclerosis | | | |
| | | | |
| Epilepsy | | Collybistin | Human, |
| | | (ARHGEF9), | Rat |
| | | Kalirin | |
| | | (ARHGEF24) | |
| Charcot-Marie-Tooth | | ARHGEF10 | Human, |
| disease and | | | Dog |
| polyneuropathy | | | |
| Attention deficit | | Kalirin | Human |
| hyperactivity disorder | | (ARHGEF24) | |
| Cocaine addiction | | Kalirin | Mouse |
| | | (ARHGEF24) | |
| Cerebellar ataxia | | PLEKHG4 | Human |
| | | (ARHGEF44) | |

RATIONALE AND OBJECTIVE

Rationale

As can be deduced from the vast number of studies that implicate them in a wide range of neurological diseases and disorders, GAPs and GEFs perform a multitude of crucial functions in the CNS of both developing and adult CNS. Furthermore, these studies span the animal kingdom from worms to human, suggesting evolutionarily conserved roles for GAPs and GEFs. Despite all these data, as we have already seen in the previous sections of this chapter, only few GAPs and GEFs have been identified to play role downstream of classic guidance cue/receptor complexes. In that sense, netrin/DCC-mediated axon guidance is of particular interest, as to date there has not been any identified GAP protein in this signaling pathway. To address this gap, in the Chapter 2 of this thesis, we set out to investigate the role of p190RhoGAP— a protein with Rhospecific GAP activity— in netrin-1/DCC mediated guidance and outgrowth of axons from cortical neurons.

Objective:

To investigate the possible role of p190RhoGAP in netrin-1/DCC-mediated axon guidance and outgrowth.

PREFACE TO CHAPTER 2

Decades of research has shown that the Rho family of small GTPases is one of the converging point of the guidance cue/receptor signaling. Interestingly, so far, only one example of a direct interaction between a guidance cue receptor and a Rho GTPase has been documented— PlexinB1/Rac1. In the rest of the reported cases, guidance cue receptors have been shown to recruit, directly or indirectly, the regulators of Rho GTPases— GAPs and GEFs. Work done in different model has revealed numbers of GAPs and GEFs downstream of guidance cur/receptor signaling pathway. Our main focus through the past years has been dissection of the signaling mechanisms downstream of the netrin-1/DCC-mediated axon guidance. Together with other research groups, we have shown that netrin-1/DCC signaling leads to a reduction of RhoA activity. This, in turn, suggests that netrin-1/DCC signaling machinery involves a RhoA-specific GAP protein. In the Chapter 2 of this thesis, we have used HEK293 cells and dissociated rat cortical neurons to examine the possible involvement of p190RhoGAP in netrin-1/DCC-mediated modulation of RhoA activity and axon guidance.

CHAPTER 2: A role for p190RhoGAP in the signaling mechanisms mediated by the axon guidance cue netrin-1 and its receptor deleted in colorectal cancer (DCC) in primary cortical neurons

Sadig Niftullayev^{1,2}, Philippe Duquette^{1,2}, Nathalie Lamarche-Vane^{1,2}

 Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, Mcgill University, Montreal, Quebec H3A 0C7, Canada
 The Cancer Research Program, The Research Institute of Mcgill University Health Centre, Montreal, Quebec H4A 3J1, Canada
Abstract

Netrin-1— a secreted protein with chemotropic property— is one of the classic guidance cues. It acts as both chemo-attractant and chemo-repellant in a receptor specific manner. In the CNS, chemo-attractive roles of netrin is mediated by DCC- a transmembrane receptor that is a type I glycoprotein with extracellular regions containing four Ig repeats followed by six type III fibronectin repeats (Fn). Netrin-1/DCC mediated axon guidance is crucial during development as the disruption of either netrin or DCC expression leads to the loss of spinal and cerebral commissures. In addition, mutations in DCC gene have been associated with neurological disorders such as congenital mirror movement. Despite vital importance of netrin/DCC signaling pathway during development, mechanism underlying it has still not been fully deciphered. Previous work from different groups has reported that, similar to other guidance cue signaling pathways, netrin/DCC signaling control the activity of the small Rho GTPases to modulate the dynamics of actin cytoskeleton. GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) are one of the three main classes of the regulators of small Rho GTPase signaling. However, to date, the role of the GAPs in axon guidance, particularly downstream of netrin/DCC signaling platform, has not been extensively studied.

Previous work from our group has documented that p120RasGAP (hereafter RasGAP) is recruited to DCC, upon netrin-1 stimulation, where it modulates the activity of Ras GTPases and ERK. Interestingly, one of the well-studied binding-partners of RasGAP is p190RhoGAP (hereafter p190)— a Rho-specific GAP protein of 190kDa. p190 has been shown to be highly expressed in the CNS, where it is the principal target of Src kinase. In this study, we have hypothesized that p190, through its interaction with

RasGAP, is recruited to DCC, upon netrin-1 stimulation, and regulates Rho GTPase activity to modulate axon outgrowth and guidance. To examine the validity of our hypothesis, we have used the combination of biochemical assays and fluorescent microscopy. Our work has shown that p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and overexpressed DCC in HEK293 cells and that mere overexpression of DCC is sufficient to increase tyrosine phosphorylation of p190. Moreover, we have documented that the tyrosine 1418 residue (Y1418) and C-terminus end of DCC is important for its interaction with p190. We have also shown that along with its SH2 domains, the SH3 domain of RasGAP is interacting with p190, as well. Furthermore, we have observed that p190 is highly expressed in cortical neurons and it has similar localization patterns as actin, DCC, and Rho-GTP in the growth cones of cortical neurons. Our study has also demonstrated that, similar to the findings in the HEK293 cells, p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in cortical neurons. Finally, our work has shown that, in cortical neurons, upon netrin-1 stimulation, p190 is phosphorylated by Src family kinases, which increases its interaction with RasGAP and DCC. Therefore, our data strongly suggest a role for p190 in the netrin-1/DCC-mediated axon outgrowth and guidance.

Introduction

The functional integrity of the vertebrate nervous system depends on proper neuronal connectivity or wiring [21, 216], failure of which is linked to disorders such as autism spectrum disorder (ASDs) and Down's syndrome [3]. Correct target selection through axon guidance is one of the key mechanisms that ensure proper neuronal connectivity. During the development of the CNS, axons travel long distance, through complex extracellular environment, to reach their targets. On this journey, neurons rely on their growth cones— highly dynamic structure at the distal tip of the axon. The growth cone is equipped with appropriate machinery to be able to sense and respond to various extracellular cues [18]. The past few decades have led to the discovery of several classes of evolutionarily conserved axon guidance cues and their cognate receptors [5, 16, 17]. These cues can be either secreted or membrane-bound and can elicit attractive or repulsive responses in a receptor-dependent fashion [5, 16, 17, 19]. The netrin family of guidance cues has been shown to be crucial for the neuronal development in both invertebrates and vertebrates [24]. Netrin-1 has been reported to interact with several families of transmembrane receptor such as DCC and its paralog neogenin, DsCAM, the UNC-5 family, and amyloid precursor protein (APP) [5, 16, 17, 24, 217]. Acting through its receptors and receptor complexes, netrin-1 can induce both attractive and repulsive responses in a variety of neuronal types [5, 16, 17, 24]. Netrin-1-induced attractive responses in the developing spinal cord and cerebral cortex of vertebrates is achieved through the transmembrane receptor DCC [218-220]. The importance of netrin-1/DCC signaling pathways during development can be highlighted with the fact that disruption in either netrin-1 or DCC expression causes the absence of spinal and cerebral commissures

[221, 222]. Furthermore, mutations and genetic variability in the human *DCC* gene have been linked to neurological disorders such as congenital mirror movement [223, 224], schizophrenia [225], and Parkinson's disease (PD) [226]. Netrin-1 stimulation leads to the phosphorylation of DCC on serine, threonine, and tyrosine residues. Of particular interest is the phosphorylation of DCC on the C-terminal tyrosine residue 1418 (Y1418) by Src family kinases, which mediates axon outgrowth and guidance in vertebrates. The Y1418 residue is located in the C-terminal tail of DCC, in a motif called P3— a highly conserved region that modulates recruitment of several downstream molecules such as focal adhesion kinase (FAK), Src, Fyn, ezrin and Myosin X [227-234].

Although not fully deciphered, it has been shown that axon guidance cue/receptor signaling steers the growth cone by altering its morphology through the regulation of local actin cytoskeleton [29]. Actin is enriched in the peripheral domain of the growth cone and defines its dynamic nature by forming distinct structures— filopodia and lamellipodia [29, 42-44]. Rho GTPases are the main regulators of actin remodeling. They cycle between GTP-bound, active, and GDP-bound, inactive, states. Two classes of proteins— Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) and GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) — modulate the activity of Rho GTPases. GEFs activate Rho GTPases by inducing GDP-to-GTP exchange, while GAPs deactivate them by enhancing intrinsic GTPase activity of the Rho GTPases [29, 43, 62, 63]. Signaling through all four classic guidance cue/receptor complexes has been shown to regulate the activity of Rho GTPases [29, 31]. Netrin-1/DCC signaling has been documented to increase Rac1 and Cdc42 activity, while decreasing RhoA activity in embryonic rat spinal cord neurons (SCNs) [29, 31, 43]. So far, two GEF proteins have been implicated in the activation of Rac1 and

Cdc42 downstream of netrin-1/DCC— the DBL family GEF, Trio, and the DOCK family GEF, Dock180 [29-31, 43, 75]. The identification of a GAP protein(s) responsible for the deactivation of RhoA, however, has yet to be achieved.

A recent work from our group has reported that, upon netrin-1 stimulation, p120RasGAP (hereafter RasGAP), a Ras-specific GAP protein, is recruited to phosphorylated Y1418 residue of DCC through its N-terminal SH2 domain and modulates basal activity of ERK and Ras proteins [235]. Interestingly, one of the main binding partners of RasGAP is p190RhoGAP (hereafter p190)— a Rho-specific GAP protein. The N- and C- terminal SH2 domains of RasGAP interact with two highly phosphorylated tyrosine residues of p190, Y1087 and Y1105, to mediate translocation p190 to the plasma membrane where it can regulate Rho-mediated remodeling of actin cytoskeleton in response to different signaling pathways [236-238]. p190 is highly expressed in the developing CNS and has been shown to be the main substrate of Src kinase in the brain. Moreover, mice lacking p190 (p190-/-) displays defects in axon outgrowth, guidance, and fasciculation [77]. Finally, p190 has been shown to play role downstream of Sema4D/PlexinB1, where it negatively regulates RhoA activity to induce neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells [89]. Its implication in the netrin-1/DCC-induced regulation of RhoA activation, however, has not been addressed yet. To fill this gap, we decided to investigate the potential role of p190 downstream of Netrin-1/DCC signaling pathways, using cultured HEK293 cells and dissociated primary rat cortical neurons.

In this chapter, we have shown that p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in HEK293 overexpression system. We have also observed that overexpression of DCC in HEK293 cells is enough to increase tyrosine phosphorylation of p190. Moreover,

we have documented that the tyrosine 1418 residue (Y1418) and C-terminus end of DCC is important for its interaction with p190. In addition, our work has reported that along with its SH2 domains, the SH3 domain of RasGAP is also interacting with p190. Furthermore, we have observed that p190 is highly expressed in cortical neurons, where it has similar localization pattern as actin, DCC, and Rho-GTP in the growth cones of cortical neurons. Similar to the findings in the HEK293 cells, we have noted that p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in cortical neurons as well. Finally, we have shown that, in cortical neurons, netrin-1 stimulation leads to phosphorylation of p190 by Src family kinases, which increases its interaction with RasGAP and DCC. Altogether, we have reported that p190 is playing a role downstream of netrin-1/DCC-mediated axon outgrowth and guidance.

Materials and Methods

Antibodies and reagents

The following antibodies were purchased: anti-DCC A-20 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology); anti-phosphotyrosine (pY) 4G10, anti-tubulin and anti-DCC AF5 (Millipore); anti-DCC G92-13 and mouse anti-p190RhoGAP 610150 (BD Biosciences Pharmingen); antiphospho- p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204) and rabbit anti-p190RhoGAP D8Q6C (Cell Signaling Technology); anti-FAK [pY861] and anti-FAK [pY397] (Life Technologies Novex); anti-p120RasGAP B4F8 (Abcam); anti-active RhoA (RhoA-GTP) (NewEast Biosciences); anti-mouse Alexa 488 and anti-goat Alexa 546 (Life Technologies molecular probe); TRITC-conjugated anti-mouse IgG (Sigma); horse radish peroxidase (HRP)-linked anti-mouse and anti-rabbit IgGs (GE Healthcare). The following reagents were used: recombinant chick netrin-1 was produced and purified as previously described [239, 240], recombinant mouse netrin-1 1109-N1 (R&D systems), PP2 (Calbiochem), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Thermo Scientific), tetramethylrhodamine (TRITC)-conjugated phalloidin (Sigma).

Plasmids

The plasmids pRK5, pRK5-DCC, pRK5-DCCY1418F, pRK5-DCC-Y1361F, pRK5-DCC 1-1327, pRK5-DCC 1-1363, and pRK5-DCC 1-1421 were previously described [49, 231, 241]. The plasmids encoding GST and GST-human p120RasGAP (NSH2, C-SH2 and SH2-SH3-SH2) were provided by L. Larose. The plasmids encoding GFP-tagged p190RhoGAP and YFP-tagged p190RhoGAP-FF were generously provided by Dr. Keith Burridge and Dr. Tony Koleske.

Purification of GST fusion proteins

Production of GST and GST-p120RasGAP proteins was induced with 1.0 mM isopropylthiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) for 4 h at 37°C. Bacteria pellets were resuspended in the lysis buffer (Buffer A) (20mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) buffer, pH 7.5; 120mM sodium chloride (NaCl); 2mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA); 10% glycerol; and 1% Triton-X 100) supplemented with 20 mM sodium fluoride (NaF), 1 mM sodium orthovanadate (Na₃VO₄), 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), and 0.2 mg/ml lysozyme. Resuspended bacteria pellets were sonicated. Bacterial lysates obtained upon sonication were centrifuged at 3000 RPM, at 4°C. Supernatant was kept and incubated with glutathione-agarose beads (Sigma) for 2h at 4°C. The beads were washed three times with Buffer A and were incubated with the lysates from HEK293 cells expressing the protein(s) of interest. Purity and concentration were determined by Coomassie Bluestained sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE).

Cell culture and transfection

Cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ in a humidified incubator. HEK293 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Wisent Bioproducts) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco®, Life Technologies) and antibiotics. The cells were transfected using polyethylenimine (PEI; PolySciences, PA) over the course of 4h. Cortical neurons from E18 rat embryos (Charles River) were dissociated mechanically and plated on dishes treated with poly-D-lysine (0.1 mg/ml; Sigma-Aldrich) or glass coverslips treated with poly-L-lysine (0.1 mg/ml; Sigma-Aldrich). Neurons were cultured in 10% FBS DMEM for 4h and the medium was replaced by Neurobasal-A medium supplemented with 2% B27 and 1% Lglutamine (Invitrogen) as mentioned in [227]. Neurons were treated with the following reagents: recombinant chick

netrin-1 or recombinant mouse netrin-1 1109-N1 (R&D systems) (500 ng/ml), PP2 (Calbiochem) (10 nM) or DMSO (Thermo Scientific) as control.

GST pull down assays

HEK293 cells transfected with the plasmid of interest were lysed in Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer as (150 mM NaCl; 50mM HEPES, pH 7.5; 1% Triton-X 100; 10mM EDTA; 0.5% deoxycholate; 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)) supplemented with 20 mM NaF, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, 1 mM PMSF, leupeptine, and aprotinin. Protein lysates were pre-cleared with 30μ l of glutathione–agarose beads (50% w/v) (Sigma Aldrich) overnight at 4°C and incubated with GST or GSTp120RasGAP proteins coupled to glutathione–agarose beads for 3 h at 4°C. Beads were washed three times in ice-cold Ripa buffer and boiled in SDS sample buffer.

Immunoprecipitation

Rat cortical neurons and HEK293 cells were lysed using RIPA buffer supplemented with protease inhibitors. Protein lysates were centrifuged at 14000 RPM, at 4°C. The supernatants were incubated with 30μ L protein-A sepharose beads (50% w/v) (Sigma) and the appropriate antibodies for 3h, at 4°C.

Immunoblotting and digital quantification

Proteins were resolved by SDS–PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane. Membranes were stained with Ponceau S (Sigma-Aldrich), immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies, and visualized by ChemiDocTM MP imaging system, using ClarityTM western ECL substrate (BioRad). All the analysis on the obtained images were carried out using Image Lab software.

Immunofluorescence

Cortical neurons (2DIV) were fixed 30 min with ice-cold 3.7% formaldehyde in 20% sucrose phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), permeabilized 5 min in 0.25% Triton X-100, and blocked 30 min with 0.25% bovine serum albumin (BSA). All the aforementioned steps were carried out at room temperature. Primary and secondary antibodies were incubated in 0.1% BSA. Neurons were examined with the following: Olympus IX81 motorized inverted microscope (40× U PLAN Fluorite and 60× U PLAN S-APO oil objective lenses) with a CoolSnap 4K camera (Photometrics).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test. The data is presented as the mean \pm the standard error of the mean (SEM).

Results

p190 and RasGAP are expressed in HEK293 cells.

To choose the optimal cell line to carry out our *in vitro* studies we examined the expression of p190 and RasGAP in three different cell lines— COS7, HeLA, and HEK293. Among the three cell lines we used, HEK293 showed the highest expression of both p190 and RasGAP (**Figure 2.1**). Therefore, we decided to use HEK293 cells for our in vitro studies.

p190 forms a complex with DCC in HEK293 cells.

To examine whether p190 is recruited to the DCC signaling complex, we immunoprecipitated p190 from the HEK293 protein lysates overexpressing full length DCC. We detected high levels of DCC in the same complex as p190 (Figure 2.2A and **B**). However, stimulation of HEK293 cells with netrin-1 for 10 minutes did not cause any further increase in the amount of co-immunoprecipitated DCC (Figure 2.2A and B). Increase in the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK 1/2) phosphorylation is one of the readouts for netrin-1/DCC signaling, together with increased phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) [229, 242]. Indeed, western blot analysis showed phosphorylation of ERK1/2 in HEK293 cells, upon 10 minutes of netrin-1 stimulation (Figure 2.2A). This proves that the lack of further increase in the amount co-immunoprecipitated DCC is not due to failure of netrin-1 stimulation. (Figure 2.2A). Using a similar experimental approach, we attempted to examine tyrosine phosphorylation status of p190 upon netrin-1 stimulation in either regular HEK293 cell or in HEK293 cells expressing full length DCC. We immunoprecipitated p190. In line with the previous experiment, we observed that overexpression of DCC increases tyrosine phosphorylation of p190, which was not further elevated upon 10 minutes of netrin-1 stimulation (**Figure 2.2C**). Moreover, the blot represented in **Figure 2.2C** shows a slight increase in the co-immunoprecipitated DCC amount in the condition with netrin-1 stimulation, however, this is due to the higher DCC expression level in the total cell lysate of the corresponding condition. Interestingly, we noted that netrin-1 stimulation leads to slight ERK1/2 activation in the absence of DCC, while DCC fails to induce ERK activation in the absence of netrin-1 stimulation (**Figure 2.2C**), which could be due to the presence of other netrin-1 receptors such as integrins. Furthermore, this experiment confirmed our finding that p190 and DCC are part of the same signaling complex (**Figure 2.2C**). Overall, these results show that p190 is a part of DCC signaling complex and that overexpression of DCC is sufficient to stimulate p190 tyrosine phosphorylation in the absence of netrin-1 stimulation.

The tyrosine 1418 (Y1418) residue of DCC is important for its interaction with p190

Having confirmed that p190 and DCC interact, we proceeded to dissect the mode of their interaction. To do so, we immunoprecipitated p190 from the HEK293 protein lysates expressing either full length or mutant DCC proteins (**Figure 2.3A**). We observed that while full length DCC and DCC 1-1421— truncation mutant that lacks the Cterminus extrimity— interact with p190 to similar extent, DCC Y1418F and DCC Y1361F point mutants show slightly lower interaction with p190 (**Figure 2.3B**). Finally, we observed very low interaction between p190 and DCC 1-1363— a truncation mutant that lacks the tyrosine 1418 (Y1418), but not the tyrosine 1361 (Y1361) residue (**Figure 2.3A and B**). Altogether, these data suggests that the tyrosine 1418 (Y1418) residue of DCC is crucial for its interaction with p190.

The SH3 domain of RasGAP interacts with both DCC and p190

To date, several studies have shown that the phosphorylated tyrosine residues Y1087 and Y1105 of p190 interact with two SH2 domains, the amino terminal (N)-SH2 and carboxy terminal (C)-SH2, of RasGAP (**Figure 2.4A**) [236-238]. Even though RasGAP also carries a SH3 domain, so far, it has not been investigated whether the SH3 domain of RasGAP interacts with p190. To address this question, we overexpressed GFP-tagged p190 in HEK293 cells and performed a GST-pulldown assay, using the following GST fusion proteins: N-SH2, C-SH2, SH3, and NT (domain of RasGAP that contains in tandem the SH2-SH3-SH2 domains) (**Figure 2.4B**). We used GST as a negative control. Using western blot analysis, we observed that the individual SH2 and SH3 domains bind p190 in comparable levels and, naturally, NT domain binds p190 in greater levels (**Figure 2.4C**). Together with the previously published data, this experiment reports that RasGAP interacts with p190 through its tandem SH2-SH3-SH2 motif.

p190 is highly expressed in rat cortical neurons.

Having confirmed its interaction with DCC in HEK293 cells, we wanted to study the possible involvement of p190 downstream of netrin-1/DCC in an endogenous system— in a primary culture of isolated rat embryonic cortical neurons. The cortical neurons are mechanically isolated and cultured from rat embryos at embryonic day 17-18 (E17-18) and all the experiments were performed at the day *in vitro* 2 (DIV 2)— a time point where axon specification and outgrowth take place (**Figure 2.5A**). First, we decided to verify the expression levels of p190, RasGAP, DCC, active ERK (phosphorylated ERK), and active FAK (pY861-FAK) at different DIVs. We noted that p190 is highly expressed in rat embryonic cortical neurons through the period of axon specification and outgrowth (**Figure 2.5B**). RasGAP (**Figure 2.5B**) and DCC (**data not** **shown**) also revealed the same trend. The active ERK and FAK, however, showed increased expression towards the later DIVs (**Figure 2.5B**).

p190 localizes at the growth cone together with DCC and Rho-GTP.

Having confirmed high expression of p190 in cortical neurons, we wanted to investigate the sub-cellular localization of p190 in these neurons. Using immunofluorescence microscopy, we observed that p190 is present in all the compartments of cortical neurons— cell body, axon, and growth cone— with particularly high enrichment in the peri-nuclear region of the cell body and in the growth cone (**Figure 2.6A**). In addition, we also examined the possible co-localization of p190 with DCC and RhoA-GTP in the growth cone. We observed that indeed p190 localizes with DCC in the growth cone (**Figure 2.6B**). As to the localization of p190 and Rho-GTP, since the antibodies for both proteins have the same host— mouse—, we could not detect them in the same cortical neurons. However, examination of RhoA-GTP localization revealed that, similar to p190, it localizes to the growth cone (**Figure 2.6C**). Overall, these findings report that p190 is abundantly expressed in developing cortical neurons and it localizes together with DCC and RhoA-GTP in the growth cone, which suggests possible interplay between these proteins.

p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in rat cortical neurons.

After verifying the high levels of p190, RasGAP, and DCC expression in cortical neurons, we asked whether the three proteins form a complex in an endogenous system. To answer this question, we immunoprecipitated either p190 (**Figure 2.7A**) or RasGAP (**Figure 2.7B**) from DIV2 cortical neuron lysates. Using western blot analysis we observed that the two proteins co-immunoprecipitate with each other. Moreover, DCC

strongly co-immunoprecipitated with both p190 and RasGAP (**Figure 2.7A and B**). In general, this finding proves that p190, RasGAP, and DCC form a complex in rat cortical neurons— in an endogenous system.

Netrin-1 stimulation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 in rat cortical neurons.

It has previously been shown that phosphorylation of p190 on tyrosine residues 1087 and 1105 mediates its interaction with RasGAP, which in turn targets p190 to plasma membrane [236-238]. Moreover, p190 has been shown to be phosphorylated in the CNS [77]. Considering this information, we set out to confirm whether netrin-1 stimulation leads to a change in the phosphorylation state of p190 in cortical neurons. We immunoprecipitated p190 from cortical neurons that were either left unstimulated or netrin -1-stimulated for 5 or 10 minutes. Using anti-phospho-tyrosine specific antibodies, we observed that netrin-1 leads to a 3-fold elevation in the tyrosine phosphorylation state of p190 (**Figure 2.8A and B**).

Src family kinases are responsible for netrin-1/DCC-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 in cortical neurons.

Our next aim was to identify the kinase that mediates netrin-1-dependent p190 phosphorylation. Brouns et al. have shown that p190 is the principal Src kinase substrate in the brain [77]. Furthermore, together with others, our group have reported that the Src family kinases have been implicated in netrin-1/DCC-mediated axon outgrowth and attraction [229-231, 243, 244]. Therefore, we decided to examine whether Src family kinases are responsible for the netrin-1-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of p190. We

incubated cortical neurons either with PP2- a selective inhibitor of the Src family netrin-1 for 10 minutes or left them unstimulated. Immunoprecipitation of p190 from protein lysates and immunoblotting with anti-phospho-tyrosine specific antibodies revealed that cortical neurons incubated with DMSO show significant increase in the tyrosine phosphorylation state of p190 upon netrin-1 stimulation (Figure 2.9A and B). The elevation in the tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 was accompanied by a significant increase in its interaction with RasGAP and DCC (data not presented). In PP2-treated cortical neurons, on the other hand, netrin-1-dependent increase in the tyrosine phosphorylation state of p190 was abolished (Figure 2.9A and B), along with increased amount of co-immunoprecipitated RasGAP and DCC (data not presented). The PP2 treatment also abolished the netrin-1-mediated ERK and FAK phosphorylation (Figure **2.9A**). Altogether, this set of experiments demonstrates that netrin-1 stimulation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 by the Src family of kinases and strongly suggests a yet-to-be-determined role for p190 in the netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway.

Discussion

In this chapter, we have investigated the role of p190 in the context of cortical development downstream of netrin-1/DCC signaling. To carry out our investigation we have used two different systems: 1) HEK293 cells since they already express p190 and RasGAP in readily detectable levels and offer optimal conditions to perform *in vitro* experiments 2) Rat cortical neurons as they offer an environment where the role of p190 in axon guidance and outgrowth can be studied as the part of endogenous machinery.

Our work in the cortical neurons showed that p190, RasGAP, and DCC are highly expressed in the cortical neurons around the time point when axon specification and outgrowth is taking place [247]. However, we observed a gradual increase in active FAK and ERK levels towards the later DIVs. This finding can be explained with the fact that apart from their role in the neuronal migration and axon outgrowth, both FAK and ERK, play role in regulation of neuronal plasticity and survival— processes that are unique to mature neurons rather than developing neurons [229, 242-244, 248-253].

Furthermore, we also observed that p190 is localized in all the compartments of cortical neurons with particularly high expression in the peri-nuclear region of the cell body and in the growth cone. Of special interest is our finding that p190 localizes in the growth cone together with DCC and Rho-GTP, which suggests that these molecules can be part of the same signaling pathways.

Next, we demonstrated that p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in cortical neurons. We also showed that netrin-1 stimulation leads to tyrosine phosphorylation of p190, which augments its interactions with RasGAP and DCC. Our work reported that the phosphorylation is mediated by Src family kinases since the

increase in both p190 phosphorylation and interaction with RasGAP and DCC is abolished upon treatment of cortical neurons with Src family kinase-specific inhibitor, PP2. This is in agreement with the previous published literature, which demonstrate involvement of Src family kinases in netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway [229-231, 243]. We also noted that PP2 treatment abolishes netrin-1-dependent ERK and FAK phosphorylation. This finding demonstrates that Src family kinases are targeting more than one component in netrin-1/DCC pathway.

Our work with HEK293 cells demonstrated that p190, RasGAP and DCC form a complex. However, in case of HEK293 cells, we found out that even in the absence of netrin-1 stimulation and consequent ERK activation, overexpression of DCC is sufficient to create strong interaction between DCC and p190. Netrin-1 stimulation leads to dimerization and hence activation of DCC. Considering the fact that DCC is a transmembrane receptor molecule, its overexpression might lead to self-dimerization and subsequent activation, which may explain why netrin-1 stimulation does not further potentiate p190/DCC interaction. Also, while interpreting this piece of data, one has to keep in mind that we have worked with endogenous levels of p190, but overexpressed levels of DCC, which may lead to an imbalance in stoichiometry of the complex formation between the two proteins. In another word, overexpression of DCC beyond the physiological levels may exhaust available p190 pool, upon which netrin-1 stimulation could have further effect.

In addition, we reported that DCC point mutants DCC Y1361F and DCC Y1418F show slightly lower binding to p190 in comparison to DCC WT. However, DCC truncation mutant DCC 1-1363, which lack Y1418, but still has Y1361 showed rather strong decrease in its binding to p190. Together these data suggest that Y1418, rather than Y1361, is critical for p190-DCC interaction. This is in line with the previous finding that phosphorylation of Y1418 is crucial for netrin-1/DCC-mediated axon outgrowth and attraction [227-232, 234, 235, 244].

Few previously published work has shown that individual SH2 domains of RasGAP interact with two tyrosine residues on p190— Y1087 and Y1105—, upon their phosphorylation [236, 237]. For instance, Bradley et al. have reported that interaction of p190 with SH2 domains of RasGAP causes a conformational change, which increases the affinity of latter's SH3 domain towards its targets [236]. However, to our knowledge, no one ever looked into whether SH3 domain of RasGAP interacts with p190 or not. Therefore, our work is the first to report a positive confirmation of the matter.

Although further research is indispensable, overall, our work suggest that p190 is involved downstream of netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway.

Figures for Chapter 2

Figure 2.1. HEK293 cells express both p190 and RasGAP in readily detectable levels.

50, 100, and 200 μ g of protein lysates from HEK293, Cos7, and HeLa cells were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against the indicated proteins.



Figure 2.2. p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in HEK293 cells.

A. HEK293 cells were transfected with either empty pRK5 vector or pRK5 vector expressing DCC. The cells were then serum starved overnight and were either stimulated with netrin-1 (500ng/ml) or left unstimulated. p190 was immunoprecipitated from cell lysates with anti-p190 antibody or rabbit IgG as a control. Immunoprecipitated (IP) proteins and total cell lysates (TCL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against the indicated proteins. B. The ratio of co-immunoprecipitated DCC to immunoprecipitated p190 is represented as the -fold change relative to the unstimulated condition for at least three independent experiments (n=3). C. HEK293 cells were transfected with either empty pRK5 vector or pRK5 vector expressing DCC. The cells were then serum starved overnight and were either stimulated with netrin-1 (500ng/ml) or left unstimulated. p190 and RasGAP were immunoprecipitated from cell lysates respectively with anti-p190 and anti-RasGAP antibodies or rabbit and mouse IgG as a control. Immunoprecipitated proteins and total cell lysates (TCL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against the indicated proteins. Unpaired Student's t-test; ns, not significant.



Figure 2.3. The tyrosine 1418 (Y1418) residue of DCC is important for its interaction with p190.

A. A schematic representation of the intracellular domain of wild type (WT) and mutant DCC proteins and their binding capacity to p190. B. HEK293 cells were transfected with either empty pRK5 vector or pRK5 vector expressing wild type or mutant DCC proteins. p190 was immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates with anti-p190 antibody or rabbit IgG as a control. Immunoprecipitated proteins and total cell lysates (TCL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against the indicated proteins.



Figure 2.4. The SH3 domain of RasGAP interacts with p190.

A. The schematic representations of RasGAP and p190. (P)- proline-rich region, (N-SH2)- amino-terminus Src-homology domain 2, (C-SH2)- carboxy-terminus Src-homology domain 3, (PH)- pleckstrin homology, (C2)-calcium-dependent phospholipid-binding, (FF)- two conserved phenylalanines, (Y1087 and Y1105)- tyrosine residues 1087 and 1105, and (GAP)- GTPase-activating domains. B. Schematic representations of GST constructs fused to different RasGAP domains. C. HEK293 cells were transfected with GFP-tagged p190. Proteins from cell lysates were pulled down using purified GST- C-SH2, -N-SH2, -SH3, -NT, or GST protein as a control. Associated proteins and total cell lysates (TCL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibody against GFP. GST fusion proteins were stained with Ponceau S.



Figure 2.5. p190 is highly expressed in rat cortical neurons.

A. A schematic representation of the axon specification and neuronal growth based on Barnes et al., 2009 [247]. B. E18 rat cortical neurons were cultured for the indicated DIVs. Protein lysates from neurons were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against the indicated proteins.



Figure 2.6. p190 localizes at the growth cone together with DCC and Rho-GTP.

A. E18 embryonic rat cortical neurons (2 DIVs) were immunostained with antibody against p190 and imaged by inverted fluorescence microscope. B. E18 embryonic rat cortical neurons (2 DIVs) were immunostained with antibodies against p190 and DCC, and imaged by inverted fluorescence microscope. C. E18 embryonic rat cortical neurons (2 DIVs) were immunostained with (TRITC)-conjugated phalloidin and antibody against RhoGTP, and imaged by inverted fluorescence microscope. The yellow rectangle represents the growth cone. The Scale bar= 25µm



Figure 2.7. p190 forms a complex with RasGAP and DCC in rat cortical neurons.

E18 rat cortical neurons were either stimulated with netrin-1 (500 ng/ml) for the indicated times or left unstimulated after being cultured for 2 DIVs. A. p190 and B. RasGAP were immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates respectively with anti-p190 and anti-RasGAP antibodies or rabbit and mouse IgG as a control. Immunoprecipitated proteins and total cell lysates (TCL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted (IB) with antibodies against the indicated proteins.



Figure 2.8. Netrin-1 stimulation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 in rat cortical neurons.

A. E18 rat cortical neurons were either stimulated with netrin-1 (500 ng/ml) for the indicated times or left unstimulated after being cultured for 2 DIVs. p190 was immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates with anti-p190 antibodies or rabbit IgG as a control. Immunoprecipitated proteins and total cell lysates (TCL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted (IB) with antibodies against the indicated proteins. B. The ration of detected phosphor-tyrosine (pY) to immunoprecipitated p190 is represented as the -fold change relative to the unstimulated condition for at least three independent experiments. Unpaired Student's t-test; *, p <0.05.



Figure 2.9. Src family kinases are responsible for netrin-1/DCC-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of p190 in cortical neurons.

A. After being cultured for 2 DIVs, E18 rat cortical neurons were either stimulated with netrin-1 (500 ng/ml) or left unstimulated upon an hour of treatment with either DMSO or PP2. p190 was immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates with anti-p190 antibodies or rabbit IgG as a control. Immunoprecipitated proteins and total cell lysates (TCL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted (IB) with antibodies against the indicated proteins. B. The ration of detected phosphor-tyrosine (pY) to immunoprecipitated p190 is represented as the -fold change relative to the unstimulated-DMSO-treated condition for at least three independent experiments. Unpaired Student's t-test; *, p <0.05; ns, not significant.


Chapter 3: SUMMARY AND FINAL CONLUSIONS

3.1 Summary of original findings

Until now, possible involvement of GAPs and GEFs in guidance cue signaling has not been extensively studied. In particular, to date, no GAP has been implicated in netrin/DCC signaling.

1. Our work suggests, for the first time, that a GAP protein— p190RhoGAP— is involved in the netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway. We have shown that p190 interact with the tandem SH2 and SH3 domains of RasGAP— a protein that our group had reported to interact with DCC and control Ras and ERK activity downstream of the netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway. We have also demonstrated that p190 co-immunoprecipitates with DCC in both HEK293 cells and cortical neurons. Furthermore, we have shown that netrin-1 stimulation leads to Src family kinases-mediated phosphorylation of p190, which leads to increased interaction with RasGAP and DCC. Altogether, these findings provide compelling evidences for us to suggest that p190 can be the first identified GAP to be involved in netrin-1/DCC mediated axon outgrowth and guidance. However, it must be noted that further experiments must be conducted to formulate more solid idea.

3.2 General conclusion

Although much more is known in the field of axon guidance since the discovery of the classic guidance molecules in the late 20th century, our understanding of the field is far from complete. However, one thing is clear that all four classic guidance cue/receptor signaling pathways converge down to the Rho family of small GTPases [29, 31, 42, 43, 45, 53]. Decades of research has revealed that the actual scheme of the Rho GTPase involvement in axon guidance is not as simple as it is used to be thought—attractive cues activate Cdc42 and Rac1, while repulsive cues activate RhoA—, but rather is more

complex [31]. There is very limited number of the Rho GTPases and there is not any well-defined pattern in their regulation downstream of guidance cue/receptor complexes [31, 43]. This raises the question whether the key to modulate Rho GTPase activity lies in the tight control of their upstream regulators- GAPs and GEFs. Unfortunately, our current knowledge about the involvement of GAPs and GEFs in the context of guidance cue/receptor signaling is highly restricted to handful of studies [29-31, 42, 43, 76, 89, 235]. To this end, we have attempted to examine the possible role of p190 downstream of netrin-1/DCC-mediated axon outgrowth and guidance. p190 is highly expressed in the brain, where it is the principal Src kinase substrate [77]. Moreover, p190-mediated negative regulation of RhoA has been documented to be crucial for Sema4D/PlexinB1induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 neuroblasts [89]. In this thesis, we report that p190 may also play role in netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway as it is phosphorylated upon netrin-1 stimulation for a short period. We also report that this netrin-1-induced stimulation of p190 strengthens its interaction with RasGAP and DCC. This might be the mechanism for targeting p190 to DCC signaling complex, where it can regulate RhoA activity.

A similar mechanism for the RasGAP protein has been published by our group. Antoine-Bertrand et al. have shown that netrin-1 stimulation leads to phosphorylation of RasGAP and its targeting to the plasma membrane, where it interacts with DCC and regulates the activities of ERK and Ras [235]. Furthermore, we have also observed that p190 is readily detectable in the growth cone of cortical neurons along with DCC, actin, and Rho GTP an observation that hints at possible interplay between the mentioned proteins. Although far from decisive, our findings support the previously published data about p190 and suggest that the Sema4D/PlexinB1 is not the only guidance pathway that utilizes p190. Our work is also in line with previous findings that mice lacking p190 show severe defects in axon outgrowth, guidance, and fasciculation [77]. Another promising aspect with our study is that, since p190 and RasGAP are well-established binding partners, it might cast some light on possible crosstalk between Ras-Rho signaling and regulation.

Overall, supporting the previous studies, concerning the role of p190 in outgrowth and guidance of the CNS axons, our work focuses on more specific pathway, the netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway, and is very encouraging for the future studies of our hypothesis. By performing further experiments in order to dissect and understand the mechanism of p190 involvement and its functional importance, we can obtain more in depth understanding of the subject, which can help us to visualize a broader image for the role of the Rho GTPases and their regulators in axon guidance.

Figure for Chapter 3

Figure 3.1. Preliminary model of the signaling mechanism of p190 downstream of the netrin-1/DCC signaling pathway.

Upon netrin-1 stimulation, p190 is phosphorylated by Src family kinases. The phosphorylation promotes the interaction of p190 with RasGAP, which in turn interacts with DCC and targets p190 to the plasma membrane, where it might negatively control RhoA activity in order to modulate axon outgrowth and guidance. (Ig)- immunoglobulin like domain, (FNIII)- fibronectin type III domain, (PM)- plasma membrane, (pY)-phosphor-tyrosine, and (EGF)- epidermal growth factor.



References

- 1. Martinez, E. and T.S. Tran, *Vertebrate spinal commissural neurons: a model system for studying axon guidance beyond the midline.* Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Developmental Biology, 2015. 4(3): p. 283-297.
- 2. Mueller, B.K., *Growth cone guidance: first steps towards a deeper understanding.* Annual review of neuroscience, 1999. **22**(1): p. 351-388.
- 3. Quinn, C.C. and W.G. Wadsworth, *Axon guidance: asymmetric signaling orients polarized outgrowth*. Trends in cell biology, 2008. **18**(12): p. 597-603.
- 4. Zou, Y. and A.I. Lyuksyutova, *Morphogens as conserved axon guidance cues*. Current opinion in neurobiology, 2007. **17**(1): p. 22-28.
- 5. Chilton, J.K., *Molecular mechanisms of axon guidance*. Developmental biology, 2006. **292**(1): p. 13-24.
- 6. Izzi, L. and F. Charron, *Midline axon guidance and human genetic disorders*. Clinical genetics, 2011. **80**(3): p. 226-234.
- 7. Kaprielian, Z., E. Runko, and R. Imondi, *Axon guidance at the midline choice point*. Developmental dynamics, 2001. **221**(2): p. 154-181.
- 8. Chédotal, A. and L.J. Richards, *Wiring the brain: the biology of neuronal guidance*. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2010. **2**(6): p. a001917.
- 9. y Cajal, S.R., *Histology of the nervous system of man and vertebrates*. Vol. 1. 1995: Oxford University Press, USA.
- 10. Ramon, Y. and S. Cajal, *Textura del Sistema Nervioso del Hombre y de los Vertebrados*. Vol. 2. 1904: Madrid Nicolas Moya.
- 11. Raper, J. and C. Mason, *Cellular strategies of axonal pathfinding*. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2010. **2**(9): p. a001933.
- 12. Harrison, R.G., *New experiments and observations on the development of the peripheral nerves of vertebrates.* 1904.
- 13. Harrison, R.G., *Further experiments on the development of peripheral nerves*. Developmental Dynamics, 1906. **5**(2): p. 121-131.
- 14. Harrison, R.G., *The outgrowth of the nerve fiber as a mode of protoplasmic movement*. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological Genetics and Physiology, 1910. **9**(4): p. 787-846.
- 15. Sperry, R.W., *Chemoaffinity in the orderly growth of nerve fiber patterns and connections*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1963. **50**(4): p. 703-710.
- 16. Kolodkin, A.L. and M. Tessier-Lavigne, *Mechanisms and molecules of neuronal wiring: a primer.* Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2011. **3**(6): p. a001727.
- 17. Yaron, A. and B. Zheng, *Navigating their way to the clinic: emerging roles for axon guidance molecules in neurological disorders and injury*. Developmental neurobiology, 2007. **67**(9): p. 1216-1231.

- 18. Huber, A.B., A.L. Kolodkin, D.D. Ginty, and J.-F. Cloutier, *Signaling at the growth cone: ligand-receptor complexes and the control of axon growth and guidance.* Annual review of neuroscience, 2003. **26**(1): p. 509-563.
- 19. Robichaux, M.A. and C.W. Cowan, *Signaling mechanisms of axon guidance and early synaptogenesis*, in *The Neurobiology of Childhood*. 2013, Springer. p. 19-48.
- 20. Van Battum, E.Y., S. Brignani, and R.J. Pasterkamp, *Axon guidance proteins in neurological disorders*. The Lancet Neurology, 2015. **14**(5): p. 532-546.
- 21. Lin, L., T.G. Lesnick, D.M. Maraganore, and O. Isacson, *Axon guidance and synaptic maintenance: preclinical markers for neurodegenerative disease and therapeutics*. Trends in neurosciences, 2009. **32**(3): p. 142-149.
- 22. Adams, R.H. and A. Eichmann, *Axon guidance molecules in vascular patterning*. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2010. **2**(5): p. a001875.
- 23. Cirulli, V. and M. Yebra, *Netrins: beyond the brain*. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology, 2007. **8**(4): p. 296-306.
- 24. Moore, S.W., M. Tessier-Lavigne, and T.E. Kennedy, *Netrins and their receptors*, in *Axon Growth and Guidance*. 2007, Springer. p. 17-31.
- 25. Hong, K., L. Hinck, M. Nishiyama, M.-m. Poo, M. Tessier-Lavigne, and E. Stein, *A ligand-gated association between cytoplasmic domains of UNC5 and DCC family receptors converts netrin-induced growth cone attraction to repulsion*. Cell, 1999. **97**(7): p. 927-941.
- 26. Merz, D.C., H. Zheng, M.T. Killeen, A. Krizus, and J.G. Culotti, *Multiple signaling mechanisms of the UNC-6/netrin receptors UNC-5 and UNC-40/DCC in vivo.* Genetics, 2001. **158**(3): p. 1071-1080.
- 27. Walter, J., S. Henke-Fahle, and F. Bonhoeffer, *Avoidance of posterior tectal membranes by temporal retinal axons.* Development, 1987. **101**(4): p. 909-913.
- 28. Drescher, U., C. Kremoser, C. Handwerker, J. Löschinger, M. Noda, and F. Bonhoeffer, *In vitro guidance of retinal ganglion cell axons by RAGS, a 25 kDa tectal protein related to ligands for Eph receptor tyrosine kinases.* Cell, 1995. **8**2(3): p. 359-370.
- 29. O'Donnell, M., R.K. Chance, and G.J. Bashaw, *Axon growth and guidance: receptor regulation and signal transduction.* Annual review of neuroscience, 2009. **32**: p. 383-412.
- 30. DeGeer, J., A. Kaplan, P. Mattar, M. Morabito, U. Stochaj, T.E. Kennedy, A. Debant, M. Cayouette, A.E. Fournier, and N. Lamarche-Vane, *Hsc7o chaperone activity underlies Trio GEF function in axon growth and guidance induced by netrin-1*. J Cell Biol, 2015. 210(5): p. 817-832.
- 31. Bashaw, G.J. and R. Klein, *Signaling from axon guidance receptors*. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2010. **2**(5): p. a001941.
- 32. Gomez, T.M. and J.Q. Zheng, *The molecular basis for calcium-dependent axon pathfinding*. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2006. **7**(2): p. 115.

- 33. Zheng, J.Q. and M.-m. Poo, *Calcium signaling in neuronal motility*. Annual review of cell and developmental biology, 2007. **23**.
- 34. Henley, J. and M.-m. Poo, *Guiding neuronal growth cones using Ca2+ signals*. Trends in cell biology, 2004. **14**(6): p. 320-330.
- 35. Li, Y., Y.-C. Jia, K. Cui, N. Li, Z.-Y. Zheng, Y.-z. Wang, and X.-b. Yuan, *Essential role of TRPC channels in the guidance of nerve growth cones by brain-derived neurotrophic factor*. Nature, 2005. **434**(7035): p. 894.
- 36. Nishiyama, M., M.J. von Schimmelmann, K. Togashi, W.M. Findley, and K. Hong, *Membrane potential shifts caused by diffusible guidance signals direct growth-cone turning*. Nature neuroscience, 2008. **11**(7): p. 762.
- 37. Wang, G.X. and M.-m. Poo, *Requirement of TRPC channels in netrin-1-induced chemotropic turning of nerve growth cones.* Nature, 2005. **434**(7035): p. 898.
- 38. Nishiyama, M., A. Hoshino, L. Tsai, J.R. Henley, Y. Goshima, M. Tessier-Lavigne, M.-m. Poo, and K. Hong, *Cyclic AMP/GMP-dependent modulation of Ca* 2+ *channels sets the polarity of nerve growth-cone turning*. Nature, 2003. **423**(6943): p. 990.
- 39. Song, H.-j., G.-l. Ming, Z. He, M. Lehmann, L. McKerracher, M. Tessier-Lavigne, and M.-m. Poo, *Conversion of neuronal growth cone responses from repulsion to attraction by cyclic nucleotides*. Science, 1998. **281**(5382): p. 1515-1518.
- 40. Song, H.-j., G.-l. Ming, and M.-m. Poo, *cAMP-induced switching in turning direction of nerve growth cones*. Nature, 1997. **388**(6639): p. 275.
- 41. Dent, E.W., F. Tang, and K. Kalil, *Axon guidance by growth cones and branches: common cytoskeletal and signaling mechanisms*. The Neuroscientist, 2003. **9**(5): p. 343-353.
- 42. Dickson, B.J., *Molecular mechanisms of axon guidance*. Science, 2002. **298**(5600): p. 1959-1964.
- 43. Hall, A. and G. Lalli, *Rho and Ras GTPases in axon growth, guidance, and branching*. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2010. 2(2): p. a001818.
- 44. Pak, C.W., K.C. Flynn, and J.R. Bamburg, *Actin-binding proteins take the reins in growth cones*. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2008. **9**(2): p. 136-147.
- 45. Guan, K.-L. and Y. Rao, *Signalling mechanisms mediating neuronal responses to guidance cues*. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2003. **4**(12): p. 941-956.
- 46. Hall, A., *Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton*. Science, 1998. **279**(5350): p. 509-514.
- 47. Mackay, D.J., F. Esch, H. Furthmayr, and A. Hall, *Rho-and rac-dependent assembly of focal adhesion complexes and actin filaments in permeabilized fibroblasts: an essential role for ezrin/radixin/moesin proteins.* The Journal of cell biology, 1997.
 138(4): p. 927-938.
- 48. Nobes, C.D. and A. Hall, *Rho GTPases control polarity, protrusion, and adhesion during cell movement*. The Journal of cell biology, 1999. **144**(6): p. 1235-1244.

- 49. Li, X., E. Saint-Cyr-Proulx, K. Aktories, and N. Lamarche-Vane, *Rac1 and Cdc42 but not RhoA or Rho kinase activities are required for neurite outgrowth induced by the Netrin-1 receptor DCC (deleted in colorectal cancer) in N1E-115 neuroblastoma cells.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2002. **277**(17): p. 15207-15214.
- 50. Moore, S.W., J.P. Correia, K.L.W. Sun, M. Pool, A.E. Fournier, and T.E. Kennedy, *Rho inhibition recruits DCC to the neuronal plasma membrane and enhances axon chemoattraction to netrin 1.* Development, 2008. **135**(17): p. 2855-2864.
- 51. Shekarabi, M. and T.E. Kennedy, *The netrin-1 receptor DCC promotes filopodia formation and cell spreading by activating Cdc42 and Rac1*. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience, 2002. **19**(1): p. 1-17.
- 52. Keleman, K. and B.J. Dickson, *Short-and long-range repulsion by the Drosophila Unc5 netrin receptor*. Neuron, 2001. **32**(4): p. 605-617.
- 53. Picard, M., R.J. Petrie, J. Antoine-Bertrand, E. Saint-Cyr-Proulx, J.-F. Villemure, and N. Lamarche-Vane, *Spatial and temporal activation of the small GTPases RhoA and Racı by the netrin-1 receptor UNC5a during neurite outgrowth*. Cellular signalling, 2009. **21**(12): p. 1961-1973.
- 54. Hu, H., T.F. Marton, and C.S. Goodman, *Plexin B mediates axon guidance in Drosophila by simultaneously inhibiting active Rac and enhancing RhoA signaling.* Neuron, 2001. **32**(1): p. 39-51.
- 55. Swiercz, J.M., R. Kuner, J. Behrens, and S. Offermanns, *Plexin-B1 directly interacts with PDZ-RhoGEF/LARG to regulate RhoA and growth cone morphology*. Neuron, 2002. **35**(1): p. 51-63.
- 56. Turner, L.J., S. Nicholls, and A. Hall, *The activity of the plexin-A1 receptor is regulated by Rac.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2004. **279**(32): p. 33199-33205.
- 57. Fan, X., J.P. Labrador, H. Hing, and G.J. Bashaw, *Slit stimulation recruits Dock and Pak to the roundabout receptor and increases Rac activity to regulate axon repulsion at the CNS midline*. Neuron, 2003. **40**(1): p. 113-127.
- 58. Wong, K., X.-R. Ren, Y.-Z. Huang, Y. Xie, G. Liu, H. Saito, H. Tang, L. Wen, S.M. Brady-Kalnay, and L. Mei, *Signal transduction in neuronal migration: roles of GTPase activating proteins and the small GTPase Cdc42 in the Slit-Robo pathway.* Cell, 2001. **107**(2): p. 209-221.
- 59. Jurney, W.M., G. Gallo, P.C. Letourneau, and S.C. McLoon, *Rac1-mediated endocytosis during ephrin-A2-and semaphorin 3A-induced growth cone collapse*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2002. **22**(14): p. 6019-6028.
- 60. Wahl, S., H. Barth, T. Ciossek, K. Aktories, and B.K. Mueller, *Ephrin-A5 induces collapse of growth cones by activating Rho and Rho kinase.* The Journal of cell biology, 2000. **149**(2): p. 263-270.
- Ku, N.-J. and M. Henkemeyer, *Ephrin-B3 reverse signaling through Grb4 and cytoskeletal regulators mediates axon pruning*. Nature neuroscience, 2009. 12(3): p. 268.
- 62. Etienne-Manneville, S. and A. Hall, *Rho GTPases in cell biology*. Nature, 2002. **420**(6916): p. 629-635.

- 63. Stankiewicz, T.R. and D.A. Linseman, *Rho family GTPases: key players in neuronal development, neuronal survival, and neurodegeneration.* Frontiers in cellular neuroscience, 2014. **8**.
- 64. Garrett, M.D., A.J. Self, C. van Oers, and A. Hall, *Identification of distinct cytoplasmic targets for ras/R-ras and rho regulatory proteins*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1989. **264**(1): p. 10-13.
- 65. Cook, D.R., K.L. Rossman, and C.J. Der, *Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factors: regulators of Rho GTPase activity in development and disease.* Oncogene, 2014.
 33(31): p. 4021-4035.
- 66. Bai, Y., X. Xiang, C. Liang, and L. Shi, *Regulating Rac in the nervous system: molecular function and disease implication of Rac GEFs and GAPs.* BioMed research international, 2015. **2015**.
- 67. Jiménez-Sánchez, A., *Coevolution of RAC Small GTPases and their Regulators GEF Proteins*. Evolutionary bioinformatics online, 2016. **12**: p. 121.
- 68. Tcherkezian, J. and N. Lamarche-Vane, *Current knowledge of the large RhoGAP family of proteins*. Biology of the Cell, 2007. **99**(2): p. 67-86.
- 69. Bos, J.L., H. Rehmann, and A. Wittinghofer, *GEFs and GAPs: critical elements in the control of small G proteins*. Cell, 2007. **129**(5): p. 865-877.
- 70. Laurin, M. and J.-F. Côté, *Insights into the biological functions of Dock family guanine nucleotide exchange factors*. Genes & development, 2014. **28**(6): p. 533-547.
- 71. Namekata, K., A. Kimura, K. Kawamura, C. Harada, and T. Harada, *Dock GEFs and their therapeutic potential: neuroprotection and axon regeneration*. Progress in retinal and eye research, 2014. **43**: p. 1-16.
- 72. Rossman, K.L., C.J. Der, and J. Sondek, *GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors.* Nature reviews Molecular cell biology, 2005. **6**(2): p. 167-180.
- 73. Shi, L., *Dock protein family in brain development and neurological disease*. Communicative & integrative biology, 2013. **6**(6): p. e26839.
- 74. Peck, J., G. Douglas, C.H. Wu, and P.D. Burbelo, *Human RhoGAP domain-containing proteins: Structure, function and evolutionary relationships.* FEBS letters, 2002. **528**(1-3): p. 27-34.
- 75. DeGeer, J., J. Boudeau, S. Schmidt, F. Bedford, N. Lamarche-Vane, and A. Debant, *Tyrosine phosphorylation of the RhoGEF Trio regulates netrin-1/DCC-mediated cortical axon outgrowth*. Molecular and cellular biology, 2012: p. MCB. 01264-12.
- 76. Tata, A., D.C. Stoppel, S. Hong, A. Ben-Zvi, T. Xie, and C. Gu, *An image-based RNAi* screen identifies SH3BP1 as a key effector of Semaphorin 3E–PlexinD1 signaling. J Cell Biol, 2014. **205**(4): p. 573-590.
- 77. Brouns, M.R., S.F. Matheson, and J. Settleman, *p190 RhoGAP is the principal Src substrate in brain and regulates axon outgrowth, guidance and fasciculation.* Nature cell biology, 2001. **3**(4): p. 361-368.

- Priançon-Marjollet, A., A. Ghogha, H. Nawabi, I. Triki, C. Auziol, S. Fromont, C. Piché, H. Enslen, K. Chebli, and J.-F. Cloutier, *Trio mediates netrin-1-induced Raci activation in axon outgrowth and guidance*. Molecular and cellular biology, 2008.
 28(7): p. 2314-2323.
- 79. Forsthoefel, D.J., E.C. Liebl, P.A. Kolodziej, and M.A. Seeger, *The Abelson tyrosine kinase, the Trio GEF and Enabled interact with the Netrin receptor Frazzled in Drosophila*. Development, 2005. **132**(8): p. 1983-1994.
- 80. Li, X., X. Gao, G. Liu, W. Xiong, J. Wu, and Y. Rao, *Netrin signal transduction and the guanine nucleotide exchange factor DOCK180 in attractive signaling*. Nature neuroscience, 2008. **u**(1): p. 28.
- 81. Hu, H., M. Li, J.-P. Labrador, J. McEwen, E.C. Lai, C.S. Goodman, and G.J. Bashaw, *Cross GTPase-activating protein (CrossGAP)/Vilse links the Roundabout receptor to Rac to regulate midline repulsion.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2005. **102**(12): p. 4613-4618.
- Lundström, A., M. Gallio, C. Englund, P. Steneberg, J. Hemphälä, P. Aspenström, K. Keleman, L. Falileeva, B.J. Dickson, and C. Samakovlis, *Vilse, a conserved Rac/Cdc42 GAP mediating Robo repulsion in tracheal cells and axons*. Genes & Development, 2004. 18(17): p. 2161-2171.
- 83. Fritz, J.L. and M. Van Berkum, *Calmodulin and son of sevenless dependent signaling pathways regulate midline crossing of axons in the Drosophila CNS*. Development, 2000. **127**(9): p. 1991-2000.
- 84. Yang, L. and G.J. Bashaw, Son of sevenless directly links the Robo receptor to rac activation to control axon repulsion at the midline. Neuron, 2006. **52**(4): p. 595-607.
- 85. Wu, W., K. Wong, J.-h. Chen, Z.-h. Jiang, S. Dupuis, J.Y. Wu, and Y. Rao, Directional guidance of neuronal migration in the olfactory system by the protein Slit. Nature, 1999. **400**(6742): p. 331.
- Vikis, H.G., W. Li, and K.-L. Guan, *The plexin-Bi/Rac interaction inhibits PAK activation and enhances Sema4D ligand binding*. Genes & development, 2002. 16(7): p. 836-845.
- 87. Jin, Z. and S.M. Strittmatter, *Rac1 mediates collapsin-1-induced growth cone collapse*. Journal of Neuroscience, 1997. **17**(16): p. 6256-6263.
- 88. Toyofuku, T., J. Yoshida, T. Sugimoto, H. Zhang, A. Kumanogoh, M. Hori, and H. Kikutani, *FARP2 triggers signals for Sema3A-mediated axonal repulsion*. Nature neuroscience, 2005. **8**(12): p. 1712.
- 89. Barberis, D., A. Casazza, R. Sordella, S. Corso, S. Artigiani, J. Settleman, P.M. Comoglio, and L. Tamagnone, *p190 Rho-GTPase activating protein associates with plexins and it is required for semaphorin signalling*. Journal of cell science, 2005. **118**(20): p. 4689-4700.
- Beg, A.A., J.E. Sommer, J.H. Martin, and P. Scheiffele, α2-Chimaerin is an essential EphA4 effector in the assembly of neuronal locomotor circuits. Neuron, 2007. 55(5): p. 768-778.

- 91. Iwasato, T., H. Katoh, H. Nishimaru, Y. Ishikawa, H. Inoue, Y.M. Saito, R. Ando, M. Iwama, R. Takahashi, and M. Negishi, *Rac-GAP α-chimerin regulates motor-circuit formation as a key mediator of EphrinB3/EphA4 forward signaling*. Cell, 2007.
 130(4): p. 742-753.
- 92. Kullander, K., S.D. Croll, M. Zimmer, L. Pan, J. McClain, V. Hughes, S. Zabski, T.M. DeChiara, R. Klein, and G.D. Yancopoulos, *Ephrin-B3 is the midline barrier that prevents corticospinal tract axons from recrossing, allowing for unilateral motor control.* Genes & development, 2001. **15**(7): p. 877-888.
- 93. Shi, L., W.-Y. Fu, K.-W. Hung, C. Porchetta, C. Hall, A.K. Fu, and N.Y. Ip, α*2chimaerin interacts with EphA4 and regulates EphA4-dependent growth cone collapse.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2007. **104**(41): p. 16347-16352.
- 94. Wegmeyer, H., J. Egea, N. Rabe, H. Gezelius, A. Filosa, A. Enjin, F. Varoqueaux, K. Deininger, F. Schnütgen, and N. Brose, *EphA4-dependent axon guidance is mediated by the RacGAP α2-chimaerin.* Neuron, 2007. **55**(5): p. 756-767.
- 95. Kullander, K., S.J. Butt, J.M. Lebret, L. Lundfald, C.E. Restrepo, A. Rydström, R. Klein, and O. Kiehn, *Role of EphA4 and EphrinB3 in local neuronal circuits that control walking.* Science, 2003. **299**(5614): p. 1889-1892.
- 96. Kuhn, T.B., M.D. Brown, C.L. Wilcox, J.A. Raper, and J.R. Bamburg, *Myelin and collapsin-1 induce motor neuron growth cone collapse through different pathways: inhibition of collapse by opposing mutants of raci*. Journal of Neuroscience, 1999. **19**(6): p. 1965-1975.
- 97. Västrik, I., B.J. Eickholt, F.S. Walsh, A. Ridley, and P. Doherty, *Sema3A-induced growth-cone collapse is mediated by Rac1 amino acids 17–32.* Current biology, 1999. **9**(18): p. 991-998.
- 98. Marston, D.J., S. Dickinson, and C.D. Nobes, *Rac-dependent trans-endocytosis of ephrinBs regulates Eph–ephrin contact repulsion*. Nature cell biology, 2003. **5**(10): p. 879.
- 99. Zimmer, M., A. Palmer, J. Köhler, and R. Klein, *EphB–ephrinB bi-directional endocytosis terminates adhesion allowing contact mediated repulsion*. Nature cell biology, 2003. **5**(10): p. 869.
- 100. Cowan, C.W., Y.R. Shao, M. Sahin, S.M. Shamah, M.Z. Lin, P.L. Greer, S. Gao, E.C. Griffith, J.S. Brugge, and M.E. Greenberg, *Vav family GEFs link activated Ephs to endocytosis and axon guidance*. Neuron, 2005. 46(2): p. 205-217.
- Shamah, S.M., M.Z. Lin, J.L. Goldberg, S. Estrach, M. Sahin, L. Hu, M. Bazalakova,
 R.L. Neve, G. Corfas, and A. Debant, *EphA receptors regulate growth cone dynamics* through the novel guanine nucleotide exchange factor ephexin. Cell, 2001. 105(2): p. 233-244.
- 102. Henkemeyer, M., D. Orioli, J.T. Henderson, T.M. Saxton, J. Roder, T. Pawson, and R. Klein, Nuk controls pathfinding of commissural axons in the mammalian central nervous system. Cell, 1996. 86(1): p. 35-46.

- 103. Iwata, R., K. Ohi, Y. Kobayashi, A. Masuda, M. Iwama, Y. Yasuda, H. Yamamori, M. Tanaka, R. Hashimoto, and S. Itohara, *RacGAP* α2-*Chimaerin Function in Development Adjusts Cognitive Ability in Adulthood*. Cell reports, 2014. 8(5): p. 1257-1264.
- 104. Kato, T., Y. Konishi, S. Shimohama, T.G. Beach, H. Akatsu, and I. Tooyama, *Alphaichimaerin, a Raci GTPase-activating protein, is expressed at reduced mRNA levels in the brain of Alzheimer's disease patients.* Neuroscience letters, 2015. **591**: p. 19-24.
- Io5. Zubeldia-Brenner, L., A. Gutierrez-Uzquiza, L. Barrio-Real, H. Wang, M.G.
 Kazanietz, and F.C. Leskow, β₃-Chimaerin, a novel member of the chimaerin Rac-GAP family. Molecular biology reports, 2014. 41(4): p. 2067-2076.
- 106. Miyake, N., J. Chilton, M. Psatha, L. Cheng, C. Andrews, W.-M. Chan, K. Law, M. Crosier, S. Lindsay, and M. Cheung, *Human CHN1 mutations hyperactivate α2-chimaerin and cause Duane's retraction syndrome.* Science, 2008. **321**(5890): p. 839-843.
- Miyake, N., J.L. Demer, S. Shaaban, C. Andrews, W.-M. Chan, S.P. Christiansen,
 D.G. Hunter, and E.C. Engle, *Expansion of the CHN1 strabismus phenotype*.
 Investigative ophthalmology & visual science, 2011. 52(9): p. 6321-6328.
- 108. Ferrario, J.E., P. Baskaran, C. Clark, A. Hendry, O. Lerner, M. Hintze, J. Allen, J.K. Chilton, and S. Guthrie, Axon guidance in the developing ocular motor system and Duane retraction syndrome depends on Semaphorin signaling via alpha2-chimaerin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2012. 109(36): p. 14669-14674.
- 109. Zamboni, V., M. Armentano, G. Sarò, E. Ciraolo, A. Ghigo, G. Germena, A. Umbach, P. Valnegri, M. Passafaro, and V. Carabelli, *Disruption of ArhGAP15 results in hyperactive Rac1, affects the architecture and function of hippocampal inhibitory neurons and causes cognitive deficits.* Scientific reports, 2016. 6.
- 110. Li, X., Q. Liu, S. Liu, J. Zhang, and Y. Zhang, New member of the guanosine triphosphatase activating protein family in the human epididymis. Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica, 2008. 40(10): p. 855-863.
- 111. Potkin, S.G., F. Macciardi, G. Guffanti, J.H. Fallon, Q. Wang, J.A. Turner, A. Lakatos, M.F. Miles, A. Lander, and M.P. Vawter, *Identifying gene regulatory networks in schizophrenia*. Neuroimage, 2010. **53**(3): p. 839-847.
- 112. Potkin, S.G., J. Turner, J. Fallon, A. Lakatos, D. Keator, G. Guffanti, and F. Macciardi, *Gene discovery through imaging genetics: identification of two novel genes associated with schizophrenia*. Molecular psychiatry, 2009. **14**(4): p. 416-428.
- 113. Guo, W., Y. Cai, H. Zhang, Y. Yang, G. Yang, X. Wang, J. Zhao, J. Lin, J. Zhu, and W. Li, *Association of ARHGAP18 polymorphisms with schizophrenia in the Chinese-Han population.* PloS one, 2017. **12**(4): p. e0175209.
- 114. Yeung, C.-Y.C., S.H. Taylor, R. Garva, D.F. Holmes, L.A. Zeef, R. Soininen, R.P. Boot-Handford, and K.E. Kadler, *Arhgap28 is a RhoGAP that inactivates RhoA and downregulates stress fibers*. PloS one, 2014. **9**(9): p. e107036.

- 115. Jiang, Y., R. Wu, C. Chen, Z.-F. You, X. Luo, and X.-P. Wang, Six novel rare nonsynonymous mutations for migraine without aura identified by exome sequencing. Journal of neurogenetics, 2015. 29(4): p. 188-194.
- Moon, S.Y., H. Zang, and Y. Zheng, *Characterization of a brain-specific Rho GTPase-activating protein, p200RhoGAP.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2003.
 278(6): p. 4151-4159.
- Nasu-Nishimura, Y., T. Hayashi, T. Ohishi, T. Okabe, S. Ohwada, Y. Hasegawa, T. Senda, C. Toyoshima, T. Nakamura, and T. Akiyama, *Role of the Rho GTPase-activating protein RICS in neurite outgrowth*. Genes to Cells, 2006. 11(6): p. 607-614.
- 118. Vo, N., M.E. Klein, O. Varlamova, D.M. Keller, T. Yamamoto, R.H. Goodman, and S. Impey, A cAMP-response element binding protein-induced microRNA regulates neuronal morphogenesis. Proceedings of the National academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2005. 102(45): p. 16426-16431.
- Johnson, R., C. Zuccato, N.D. Belyaev, D.J. Guest, E. Cattaneo, and N.J. Buckley, A microRNA-based gene dysregulation pathway in Huntington's disease.
 Neurobiology of disease, 2008. 29(3): p. 438-445.
- 120. Carlson, B.R., K.E. Lloyd, A. Kruszewski, I.-H. Kim, R.M. Rodriguiz, C. Heindel, M. Faytell, S.M. Dudek, W.C. Wetsel, and S.H. Soderling, *WRP/srGAP3 facilitates the initiation of spine development by an inverse F-BAR domain, and its loss impairs long-term memory*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2011. **31**(7): p. 2447-2460.
- Dennis, M.Y., X. Nuttle, P.H. Sudmant, F. Antonacci, T.A. Graves, M. Nefedov, J.A. Rosenfeld, S. Sajjadian, M. Malig, and H. Kotkiewicz, *Evolution of human-specific neural SRGAP2 genes by incomplete segmental duplication*. Cell, 2012. 149(4): p. 912-922.
- Saitsu, H., H. Osaka, S. Sugiyama, K. Kurosawa, T. Mizuguchi, K. Nishiyama, A. Nishimura, Y. Tsurusaki, N. Miyake, and N. Harada, *Early infantile epileptic encephalopathy associated with the disrupted gene encoding Slit-Robo Rho GTPase activating protein 2 (SRGAP2)*. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A, 2012. 158(1): p. 199-205.
- 123. Endris, V., B. Wogatzky, U. Leimer, D. Bartsch, M. Zatyka, F. Latif, E.R. Maher, G. Tariverdian, S. Kirsch, and D. Karch, *The novel Rho-GTPase activating gene MEGAP/srGAP3 has a putative role in severe mental retardation*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2002. 99(18): p. 11754-11759.
- 124. Chiang, S.H., J. Hwang, M. Legendre, M. Zhang, A. Kimura, and A.R. Saltiel, *TCGAP, a multidomain Rho GTPase-activating protein involved in insulin-stimulated glucose transport.* The EMBO journal, 2003. 22(11): p. 2679-2691.
- 125. Liu, H., T. Nakazawa, T. Tezuka, and T. Yamamoto, *Physical and functional interaction of Fyn tyrosine kinase with a brain-enriched Rho GTPase-activating protein TCGAP*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2006. **281**(33): p. 23611-23619.
- 126. Schuster, S., M. Rivalan, U. Strauss, L. Stoenica, T. Trimbuch, N. Rademacher, S. Parthasarathy, D. Lajko, C. Rosenmund, and S. Shoichet, *NOMA-GAP/ARHGAP*33

regulates synapse development and autistic-like behavior in the mouse. Molecular psychiatry, 2015. **20**(9): p. 1120-1131.

- 127. Nakazawa, T., R. Hashimoto, K. Sakoori, Y. Sugaya, A. Tanimura, Y. Hashimotodani, K. Ohi, H. Yamamori, Y. Yasuda, and S. Umeda-Yano, *Emerging roles of ARHGAP33 in intracellular trafficking of TrkB and pathophysiology of neuropsychiatric disorders*. Nature communications, 2016. **7**: p. 10594.
- 128. Lipska, B.K. and D.R. Weinberger, *To model a psychiatric disorder in animals: schizophrenia as a reality test*. Neuropsychopharmacology, 2000. **23**(3): p. 223-239.
- 129. Williams, L.E., J.U. Blackford, A. Luksik, I. Gauthier, and S. Heckers, *Reduced habituation in patients with schizophrenia*. Schizophrenia research, 2013. **151**(1): p. 124-132.
- 130. Bergmann, C., K. Zerres, J. Senderek, S. Rudnik-Schöneborn, T. Eggermann, M. Häusler, M. Mull, and V.T. Ramaekers, *Oligophrenin 1 (OPHN1) gene mutation causes syndromic X-linked mental retardation with epilepsy, rostral ventricular enlargement and cerebellar hypoplasia.* Brain, 2003. **126**(7): p. 1537-1544.
- Billuart, P., T. Bienvenu, N. Ronce, V. Des Portes, M.C. Vinet, R. Zemni, H.R.
 Crollius, A. Carrié, F. Fauchereau, and M. Cherry, *Oligophrenin-1 encodes a rhoGAP* protein involved in X-linked mental retardation. Nature, 1998. 392(6679): p. 923-926.
- 132. Santos-Rebouças, C.B., S. Belet, L.G. De Almeida, M.G. Ribeiro, E. Medina-Acosta, P.R.V. Bahia, A.F.A. Da Silva, F.L. Dos Santos, G.C.B. De Lacerda, and M.M.G. Pimentel, A novel in-frame deletion affecting the BAR domain of OPHN1 in a family with intellectual disability and hippocampal alterations. European Journal of Human Genetics, 2014. 22(5): p. 644-651.
- 133. Schalock, R.L., R.A. Luckasson, and K.A. Shogren, *The renaming of mental retardation: Understanding the change to the term intellectual disability.* Intellectual and developmental disabilities, 2007. **45**(2): p. 116-124.
- 134. Bedeschi, M.F., A. Novelli, L. Bernardini, C. Parazzini, V. Bianchi, B. Torres, F. Natacci, M.G. Giuffrida, P. Ficarazzi, and B. Dallapiccola, *Association of syndromic mental retardation with an Xq12q13. 1 duplication encompassing the oligophrenin 1 gene.* American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A, 2008. **146**(13): p. 1718-1724.
- 135. Philip, N., B. Chabrol, A. Lossi, C. Cardoso, R. Guerrini, W. Dobyns, C. Raybaud, and L. Villard, *Mutations in the oligophrenin-1 gene (OPHN1) cause X linked congenital cerebellar hypoplasia*. Journal of medical genetics, 2003. **40**(6): p. 441-446.
- 136. Portes, V.d., N. Boddaert, S. Sacco, S. Briault, K. Maincent, N. Bahi, M. Gomot, N. Ronce, J. Bursztyn, and C. Adamsbaum, *Specific clinical and brain MRI features in mentally retarded patients with mutations in the Oligophrenin-1 gene*. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A, 2004. **124**(4): p. 364-371.
- 137. Cicchetti, P., A. Ridley, Y. Zheng, R. Cerione, and D. Baltimore, *3BP-1*, an SH3 domain binding protein, has GAP activity for Rac and inhibits growth factor-induced membrane ruffling in fibroblasts. The EMBO Journal, 1995. **14**(13): p. 3127-3135.

- 138. Huang, T.Y., S. Michael, T. Xu, A. Sarkeshik, J.J. Moresco, J.R. Yates, E. Masliah, G.M. Bokoch, and C. DerMardirossian, *A novel Racı GAP splice variant relays poly-Ub accumulation signals to mediate Racı inactivation.* Molecular biology of the cell, 2013. 24(3): p. 194-209.
- Raynaud, F., A. Janossy, J. Dahl, F. Bertaso, J. Perroy, A. Varrault, M. Vidal, P.F.
 Worley, T.M. Boeckers, and J. Bockaert, *Shank3-Rich2 interaction regulates AMPA receptor recycling and synaptic long-term potentiation*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2013. 33(23): p. 9699-9715.
- Sarowar, T., S. Grabrucker, K. Föhr, K. Mangus, M. Eckert, J. Bockmann, T.M.
 Boeckers, and A.M. Grabrucker, *Enlarged dendritic spines and pronounced* neophobia in mice lacking the PSD protein RICH2. Molecular brain, 2016. 9(1): p. 28.
- 141. Logotheti, M., O. Papadodima, A. Chatziioannou, N. Venizelos, and F. Kolisis, *Gene Expression Analysis of Fibroblasts from Patients with Bipolar Disorder*. Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology & Mental Health, 2015. 1(1): p. 1-9.
- 142. Krugmann, S., K. Anderson, S. Ridley, N. Risso, A. McGregor, J. Coadwell, K. Davidson, A. Eguinoa, C. Ellson, and P. Lipp, *Identification of ARAP3, a novel PI3K effector regulating both Arf and Rho GTPases, by selective capture on phosphoinositide affinity matrices.* Molecular cell, 2002. **9**(1): p. 95-108.
- 143. Miura, K., K.M. Jacques, S. Stauffer, A. Kubosaki, K. Zhu, D.S. Hirsch, J. Resau, Y. Zheng, and P.A. Randazzo, *ARAP1: a point of convergence for Arf and Rho signaling*. Molecular cell, 2002. **9**(1): p. 109-119.
- 144. de Kreuk, B.-J., A. Schaefer, E.C. Anthony, S. Tol, M. Fernandez-Borja, D. Geerts, J. Pool, L. Hambach, E. Goulmy, and P.L. Hordijk, *The human minor histocompatibility antigeni is a RhoGAP*. PloS one, 2013. **8**(9): p. e73962.
- 145. Spierings, E., B. Wieles, and E. Goulmy, *Minor histocompatibility antigens-big in tumour therapy*. Trends in immunology, 2004. **25**(2): p. 56-60.
- Aresta, S., F. BÉRANGER, and J. de GUNZBURG, A novel Rho GTPase-activating-protein interacts with Gem, a member of the Ras superfamily of GTPases.
 Biochemical Journal, 2002. 367(1): p. 57-65.
- 147. Saras, J., P. Franzén, P. Aspenström, U. Hellman, L.J. Gonez, and C.-H. Heldin, *A novel GTPase-activating protein for Rho interacts with a PDZ domain of the proteintyrosine phosphatase PTPL1*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1997. **272**(39): p. 24333-24338.
- 148. Zhang, Z., C. Wu, S. Wang, W. Huang, Z. Zhou, K. Ying, Y. Xie, and Y. Mao, *Cloning and characterization of ARHGAP12, a novel human rhoGAP gene.* The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology, 2002. **34**(4): p. 325-331.
- 149. Ota, H., T. Hikita, M. Sawada, T. Nishioka, M. Matsumoto, M. Komura, A. Ohno, Y. Kamiya, T. Miyamoto, and N. Asai, *Speed control for neuronal migration in the postnatal brain by Gmip-mediated local inactivation of RhoA*. Nature communications, 2014. **5**: p. 4532.

- 150. Tadokoro, K., R. Hashimoto, M. Tatsumi, A. Kosuga, K. Kamijima, and H. Kunugi, *The Gem interacting protein (GMIP) gene is associated with major depressive disorder*. Neurogenetics, 2005. **6**(3): p. 127-133.
- 151. Jungerius, B.J., S.C. Bakker, A.J. Monsuur, R.J. Sinke, R.S. Kahn, and C. Wijmenga, Is MYO9B the missing link between schizophrenia and celiac disease? American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 2008. 147(3): p. 351-355.
- 152. van den Boom, F., H. Düssmann, K. Uhlenbrock, M. Abouhamed, and M. Bähler, *The Myosin IXb motor activity targets the myosin IXb RhoGAP domain as cargo to sites of actin polymerization*. Molecular biology of the cell, 2007. **18**(4): p. 1507-1518.
- 153. Bae, Y.-S., W. Chung, K. Han, K.Y. Park, H. Kim, E. Kim, and M.-H. Kim, *Down-regulation of RalBP1 expression reduces seizure threshold and synaptic inhibition in mice*. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2013. **433**(2): p. 175-180.
- 154. Mott, H.R. and D. Owen, *Structure and function of RLIP76 (RalBP1): an intersection point between Ras and Rho signalling.* 2014, Portland Press Limited.
- 155. Goldfinger, L.E., C. Ptak, E.D. Jeffery, J. Shabanowitz, D.F. Hunt, and M.H. Ginsberg, *RLIP76 (RalBP1) is an R-Ras effector that mediates adhesion-dependent Rac activation and cell migration.* J Cell Biol, 2006. **174**(6): p. 877-888.
- 156. Oby, E. and D. Janigro, *The blood-brain barrier and epilepsy*. Epilepsia, 2006. **47**(11): p. 1761-1774.
- 157. Luo, T., P. Roman, C. Liu, X. Sun, Y. Park, and B. Hu, *Upregulation of the GEF-H1 pathway after transient cerebral ischemia*. Experimental neurology, 2015. **263**: p. 306-313.
- 158. Ravindran, E., H. Hu, S.A. Yuzwa, L.R. Hernandez-Miranda, N. Kraemer, O. Ninnemann, L. Musante, E. Boltshauser, D. Schindler, and A. Hübner, *Homozygous ARHGEF2 mutation causes intellectual disability and midbrainhindbrain malformation*. PLoS genetics, 2017. **13**(4): p. e1006746.
- 159. Varma, H., A. Yamamoto, M.R. Sarantos, R.E. Hughes, and B.R. Stockwell, *Mutant huntingtin alters cell fate in response to microtubule depolymerization via the GEF*-*H1-RhoA-ERK pathway.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2010. **285**(48): p. 37445-37457.
- 160. Ramakers, G.J., D. Wolfer, G. Rosenberger, K. Kuchenbecker, H.-J. Kreienkamp, J. Prange-Kiel, G. Rune, K. Richter, K. Langnaese, and S. Masneuf, *Dysregulation of Rho GTPases in the αPix/Arhgef6 mouse model of X-linked intellectual disability is paralleled by impaired structural and synaptic plasticity and cognitive deficits.* Human molecular genetics, 2011. 21(2): p. 268-286.
- 161. Yokota, T., J. Kouno, K. Adachi, H. Takahashi, A. Teramoto, K. Matsumoto, Y. Sugisaki, M. Onda, and T. Tsunoda, *Identification of histological markers for malignant glioma by genome-wide expression analysis: dynein, α-PIX and sorcin.* Acta neuropathologica, 2006. 111(1): p. 29-38.

- 162. Nodé-Langlois, R., D. Muller, and B. Boda, *Sequential implication of the mental retardation proteins ARHGEF6 and PAK3 in spine morphogenesis.* Journal of cell science, 2006. **119**(23): p. 4986-4993.
- 163. Kutsche, K., H. Yntema, A. Brandt, I. Jantke, H.G. Nothwang, U. Orth, M.G. Boavida, D. David, J. Chelly, and J.-P. Fryns, *Mutations in ARHGEF6, encoding a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rho GTPases, in patients with X-linked mental retardation.* Nature genetics, 2000. **26**(2): p. 247-250.
- 164. Harvey, K., I.C. Duguid, M.J. Alldred, S.E. Beatty, H. Ward, N.H. Keep, S.E. Lingenfelter, B.R. Pearce, J. Lundgren, and M.J. Owen, *The GDP-GTP exchange factor collybistin: an essential determinant of neuronal gephyrin clustering*. Journal of Neuroscience, 2004. 24(25): p. 5816-5826.
- 165. Fritschy, J.-M., R.J. Harvey, and G. Schwarz, *Gephyrin: where do we stand, where do we go?* Trends in neurosciences, 2008. **31**(5): p. 257-264.
- 166. Bhat, G., D. LaGrave, A. Millson, J. Herriges, A.N. Lamb, and R. Matalon, *Xq11. 1-11.2 deletion involving ARHGEF9 in a girl with autism spectrum disorder*. European journal of medical genetics, 2016. **59**(9): p. 470-473.
- 167. Kalscheuer, V.M., L. Musante, C. Fang, K. Hoffmann, C. Fuchs, E. Carta, E. Deas, K. Venkateswarlu, C. Menzel, and R. Ullmann, *A balanced chromosomal translocation disrupting ARHGEF9 is associated with epilepsy, anxiety, aggression, and mental retardation*. Human mutation, 2009. **30**(1): p. 61-68.
- 168. Klein, K.M., M. Pendziwiat, A. Eilam, R. Gilad, I. Blatt, F. Rosenow, M. Kanaan, I. Helbig, Z. Afawi, and I.-P.E.F. Consortium, *The phenotypic spectrum of ARHGEF9 includes intellectual disability, focal epilepsy and febrile seizures*. Journal of Neurology, 2017: p. 1-5.
- 169. Long, P., M.M. May, V.M. James, S. Grannò, J.P. Johnson, P. Tarpey, R.E. Stevenson, K. Harvey, C.E. Schwartz, and R.J. Harvey, *Missense mutation R338W in ARHGEF9 in a family with X-linked intellectual disability with variable macrocephaly and macro-orchidism*. Frontiers in molecular neuroscience, 2016. 8: p. 83.
- Marco, E.J., F.E. Abidi, J. Bristow, W.B. Dean, P. Cotter, R.J. Jeremy, C.E. Schwartz, and E.H. Sherr, ARHGEF9 disruption in a female patient is associated with X linked mental retardation and sensory hyperarousal. Journal of medical genetics, 2008.
 45(2): p. 100-105.
- 171. Shimojima, K., M. Sugawara, M. Shichiji, S. Mukaida, R. Takayama, K. Imai, and T. Yamamoto, *Loss-of-function mutation of collybistin is responsible for X-linked mental retardation associated with epilepsy*. Journal of human genetics, 2011. **56**(8): p. 561-565.
- 172. Beutler, A.S., A.A. Kulkarni, R. Kanwar, C.J. Klein, T.M. Therneau, R. Qin, M.S. Banck, G.K. Boora, K.J. Ruddy, and Y. Wu, *Sequencing of Charcot–Marie–Tooth disease genes in a toxic polyneuropathy*. Annals of neurology, 2014. **76**(5): p. 727-737.
- 173. Ekenstedt, K.J., D. Becker, K.M. Minor, G.D. Shelton, E.E. Patterson, T. Bley, A. Oevermann, T. Bilzer, T. Leeb, and C. Drögemüller, *An ARHGEF10 deletion is*

highly associated with a juvenile-onset inherited polyneuropathy in Leonberger and Saint Bernard dogs. PLoS genetics, 2014. **10**(10): p. e1004635.

- 174. Verhoeven, K., P. De Jonghe, T. Van de Putte, E. Nelis, A. Zwijsen, N. Verpoorten, E. De Vriendt, A. Jacobs, V. Van Gerwen, and A. Francis, *Slowed conduction and thin myelination of peripheral nerves associated with mutant rho Guanine-nucleotide exchange factor 10.* The American Journal of Human Genetics, 2003.
 73(4): p. 926-932.
- 175. Boora, G.K., A.A. Kulkarni, R. Kanwar, P. Beyerlein, R. Qin, M.S. Banck, K.J. Ruddy, J. Pleticha, C.A. Lynch, and R.J. Behrens, *Association of the Charcot–Marie–Tooth disease gene ARHGEF10 with paclitaxel induced peripheral neuropathy in NCCTG No8CA (Alliance).* Journal of the neurological sciences, 2015. **357**(1): p. 35-40.
- 176. Poelmans, G., B. Franke, D. Pauls, J. Glennon, and J. Buitelaar, *AKAPs integrate genetic findings for autism spectrum disorders*. Translational psychiatry, 2013. **3**(6): p. e270.
- Ba, W., Y. Yan, M.R. Reijnders, J.H. Schuurs-Hoeijmakers, I. Feenstra, E.M. Bongers, D.G. Bosch, N. De Leeuw, R. Pfundt, and C. Gilissen, *TRIO loss of function is associated with mild intellectual disability and affects dendritic branching and synapse function*. Human molecular genetics, 2015. 25(5): p. 892-902.
- 178. Katrancha, S.M., Y. Wu, M. Zhu, B.A. Eipper, A.J. Koleske, and R.E. Mains, Neurodevelopmental disease-associated de novo mutations and rare sequence variants affect TRIO GDP/GTP exchange factor activity. Human molecular genetics, 2017. **26**(23): p. 4728-4740.
- 179. Ma, X.M., J.P. Huang, B.A. Eipper, and R.E. Mains, *Expression of Trio, a member of the Dbl family of Rho GEFs in the developing rat brain*. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 2005. **482**(4): p. 333-348.
- 180. Zong, W., S. Liu, X. Wang, J. Zhang, T. Zhang, Z. Liu, D. Wang, A. Zhang, M. Zhu, and J. Gao, *Trio gene is required for mouse learning ability*. brain research, 2015. 1608: p. 82-90.
- 181. Iyer, S.C., D. Wang, E.P.R. Iyer, S.A. Trunnell, R. Meduri, R. Shinwari, M.J. Sulkowski, and D.N. Cox, *The RhoGEF trio functions in sculpting class specific dendrite morphogenesis in Drosophila sensory neurons*. PLoS One, 2012. 7(3): p. e33634.
- 182. Miller, M.B., Y. Yan, B.A. Eipper, and R.E. Mains, *Neuronal Rho GEFs in synaptic physiology and behavior*. The Neuroscientist, 2013. **19**(3): p. 255-273.
- 183. Shivalkar, M. and E. Giniger, *Control of dendritic morphogenesis by Trio in Drosophila melanogaster*. PLoS One, 2012. **7**(3): p. e33737.
- 184. Newsome, T.P., S. Schmidt, G. Dietzl, K. Keleman, B. Åsling, A. Debant, and B.J. Dickson, *Trio combines with dock to regulate Pak activity during photoreceptor axon pathfinding in Drosophila*. Cell, 2000. **101**(3): p. 283-294.
- 185. Peng, Y.-J., W.-Q. He, J. Tang, T. Tao, C. Chen, Y.-Q. Gao, W.-C. Zhang, X.-Y. He, Y.-Y. Dai, and N.-C. Zhu, *Trio is a key guanine nucleotide exchange factor*

coordinating regulation of the migration and morphogenesis of granule cells in the developing cerebellum. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2010. **285**(32): p. 24834-24844.

- 186. O'Brien, S.P., K. Seipel, Q.G. Medley, R. Bronson, R. Segal, and M. Streuli, *Skeletal muscle deformity and neuronal disorder in Trio exchange factor-deficient mouse embryos.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2000. **97**(22): p. 12074-12078.
- 187. De Ligt, J., M.H. Willemsen, B.W. Van Bon, T. Kleefstra, H.G. Yntema, T. Kroes, A.T. Vulto-van Silfhout, D.A. Koolen, P. De Vries, and C. Gilissen, *Diagnostic exome sequencing in persons with severe intellectual disability*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2012. 367(20): p. 1921-1929.
- 188. De Rubeis, S., X. He, A.P. Goldberg, C.S. Poultney, K. Samocha, A.E. Cicek, Y. Kou, L. Liu, M. Fromer, and S. Walker, *Synaptic, transcriptional and chromatin genes disrupted in autism.* Nature, 2014. **515**(7526): p. 209.
- 189. Genovese, G., M. Fromer, E.A. Stahl, D.M. Ruderfer, K. Chambert, M. Landén, J.L. Moran, S.M. Purcell, P. Sklar, and P.F. Sullivan, *Increased burden of ultra-rare protein-altering variants among 4,877 individuals with schizophrenia*. Nature neuroscience, 2016. 19(11): p. 1433.
- 190. O'Roak, B.J., L. Vives, W. Fu, J.D. Egertson, I.B. Stanaway, I.G. Phelps, G. Carvill, A. Kumar, C. Lee, and K. Ankenman, *Multiplex targeted sequencing identifies recurrently mutated genes in autism spectrum disorders*. Science, 2012. **338**(6114): p. 1619-1622.
- 191. Pengelly, R.J., S. Greville-Heygate, S. Schmidt, E.G. Seaby, M.R. Jabalameli, S.G. Mehta, M.J. Parker, D. Goudie, C. Fagotto-Kaufmann, and C. Mercer, *Mutations specific to the Rac-GEF domain of TRIO cause intellectual disability and microcephaly*. Journal of medical genetics, 2016. 53(11): p. 735-742.
- 192. Sanders, S.J., M.T. Murtha, A.R. Gupta, J.D. Murdoch, M.J. Raubeson, A.J. Willsey, A.G. Ercan-Sencicek, N.M. DiLullo, N.N. Parikshak, and J.L. Stein, *De novo mutations revealed by whole-exome sequencing are strongly associated with autism*. Nature, 2012. **485**(7397): p. 237.
- 193. Vulto-van Silfhout, A.T., J.Y. Hehir-Kwa, B.W. Bon, J.H. Schuurs-Hoeijmakers, S. Meader, C.J. Hellebrekers, I.J. Thoonen, A.P. Brouwer, H.G. Brunner, and C. Webber, *Clinical significance of de novo and inherited copy-number variation*. Human mutation, 2013. 34(12): p. 1679-1687.
- 194. Cahill, M.E., Z. Xie, M. Day, H. Photowala, M.V. Barbolina, C.A. Miller, C. Weiss, J. Radulovic, J.D. Sweatt, and J.F. Disterhoft, *Kalirin regulates cortical spine morphogenesis and disease-related behavioral phenotypes*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2009. 106(31): p. 13058-13063.
- Hill, J., T. Hashimoto, and D. Lewis, *Molecular mechanisms contributing to dendritic spine alterations in the prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia*. Molecular psychiatry, 2006. 11(6): p. 557-566.

- 196. Krug, T., H. Manso, L. Gouveia, J. Sobral, J.M. Xavier, I. Albergaria, G. Gaspar, M. Correia, M. Viana-Baptista, and R.M. Simões, *Kalirin: a novel genetic risk factor for ischemic stroke*. Human genetics, 2010. **127**(5): p. 513-523.
- 197. Mandela, P. and X.-M. Ma, *Kalirin, a key player in synapse formation, is implicated in human diseases.* Neural plasticity, 2012. **2012**.
- 198. Penzes, P., A. Beeser, J. Chernoff, M.R. Schiller, B.A. Eipper, R.E. Mains, and R.L. Huganir, *Rapid induction of dendritic spine morphogenesis by trans-synaptic ephrinB-EphB receptor activation of the Rho-GEF kalirin*. Neuron, 2003. **37**(2): p. 263-274.
- 199. Youn, H., M. Jeoung, Y. Koo, H. Ji, W.R. Markesbery, I. Ji, and T.H. Ji, *Kalirin is under-expressed in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus*. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 2007. **11**(3): p. 385-397.
- Youn, H., I. Ji, H.P. Ji, W.R. Markesbery, and T.H. Ji, Under-expression of Kalirin-7 Increases iNOS Activity in Cultured Cells and Correlates to Elevated iNOS Activity in Alzheimer's Disease Hippocampusi. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 2007. 12(3): p. 271-281.
- 201. Kuwano, R., A. Miyashita, H. Arai, T. Asada, M. Imagawa, M. Shoji, S. Higuchi, K. Urakami, A. Kakita, and H. Takahashi, *Dynamin-binding protein gene on chromosome 10q is associated with late-onset Alzheimer's disease*. Human molecular genetics, 2006. **15**(13): p. 2170-2182.
- 202. Bettens, K., N. Brouwers, S. Engelborghs, T. De Pooter, P.P. De Deyn, K. Sleegers, and C. Van Broeckhoven, *DNMBP is genetically associated with Alzheimer dementia in the Belgian population*. Neurobiology of aging, 2009. **30**(12): p. 2000-2009.
- 203. Edvardson, S., H. Wang, T. Dor, O. Atawneh, B. Yaacov, J. Gartner, Y. Cinnamon, S. Chen, and O. Elpeleg, *Microcephaly-dystonia due to mutated PLEKHG2 with impaired actin polymerization*. neurogenetics, 2016. **17**(1): p. 25-30.
- 204. Gupta, M., E. Kamynina, S. Morley, S. Chung, N. Muakkassa, H. Wang, S. Brathwaite, G. Sharma, and D. Manor, *Plekhg4 is a novel Dbl family guanine nucleotide exchange factor protein for rho family GTPases*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2013. 288(20): p. 14522-14530.
- 205. Ishikawa, K., S. Toru, T. Tsunemi, M. Li, K. Kobayashi, T. Yokota, T. Amino, K. Owada, H. Fujigasaki, and M. Sakamoto, An autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia linked to chromosome 16q22. 1 is associated with a single-nucleotide substitution in the 52untranslated region of the gene encoding a protein with spectrin repeat and Rho guanine-nucleotide exchange-factor domains. The American Journal of Human Genetics, 2005. 77(2): p. 280-296.
- 206. Eymard-Pierre, E., G. Lesca, S. Dollet, F.M. Santorelli, M. di Capua, E. Bertini, and O. Boespflug-Tanguy, *Infantile-onset ascending hereditary spastic paralysis is associated with mutations in the alsin gene*. The American Journal of Human Genetics, 2002. **71**(3): p. 518-527.
- 207. Yang, Y., A. Hentati, H.-X. Deng, O. Dabbagh, T. Sasaki, M. Hirano, W.-Y. Hung, K. Ouahchi, J. Yan, and A.C. Azim, *The gene encoding alsin, a protein with three*

guanine-nucleotide exchange factor domains, is mutated in a form of recessive amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nature genetics, 2001. **29**(2): p. 160-165.

- 208. Gros-Louis, F., I.A. Meijer, C.K. Hand, M.P. Dubé, D.L. MacGregor, M.H. Seni, R.S. Devon, M.R. Hayden, F. Andermann, and E. Andermann, *An ALS2 gene mutation causes hereditary spastic paraplegia in a Pakistani kindred*. Annals of neurology, 2003. 53(1): p. 144-145.
- 209. Ge, Y., N. Li, Z. Wang, J. Wang, and H. Cai, *Novel variant in the FGD1 gene causing Aarskog -Scott syndrome.* Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine, 2017. **13**(6): p. 2623-2628.
- Zheng, Y., D.J. Fischer, M.F. Santos, G. Tigyi, N.G. Pasteris, J.L. Gorski, and Y. Xu, *The faciogenital dysplasia gene product FGD1 functions as a Cdc42Hs-specific guanine-nucleotide exchange factor*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1996. 271(52): p. 33169-33172.
- Lebel, R., M. May, S. Pouls, H. Lubs, R. Stevenson, and C. Schwartz, Non-syndromic X-linked mental retardation associated with a missense mutation (P312L) in the FGD1 gene. Clinical genetics, 2002. 61(2): p. 139-145.
- 212. Bhavsar, P.J., E. Vigorito, M. Turner, and A.J. Ridley, *Vav GEFs regulate macrophage morphology and adhesion-induced Rac and Rho activation*. Experimental cell research, 2009. **315**(19): p. 3345-3358.
- 213. Jagodic, M., C. Colacios, R. Nohra, A.S. Dejean, A.D. Beyeen, M. Khademi, A. Casemayou, L. Lamouroux, C. Duthoit, and O. Papapietro, *A role for VAV1 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis.* Science translational medicine, 2009. 1(10): p. 10ra21-10ra21.
- Ikeda, M., B. Aleksic, Y. Kinoshita, T. Okochi, K. Kawashima, I. Kushima, Y. Ito, Y. Nakamura, T. Kishi, and T. Okumura, *Genome-wide association study of schizophrenia in a Japanese population*. Biological psychiatry, 2011. 69(5): p. 472-478.
- 215. Aleksic, B., I. Kushima, R. Hashimoto, K. Ohi, M. Ikeda, A. Yoshimi, Y. Nakamura, Y. Ito, T. Okochi, and Y. Fukuo, *Analysis of the VAV3 as candidate gene for schizophrenia: evidences from voxel-based morphometry and mutation screening.* Schizophrenia bulletin, 2012. **39**(3): p. 720-728.
- 216. Dodd, J. and T.M. Jessell, *Axon guidance and the patterning of neuronal projections in vertebrates.* Science, 1988. **242**(4879): p. 692-699.
- 217. Lourenco, F., V. Galvan, J. Fombonne, V. Corset, F. Llambi, U. Müller, D. Bredesen, and P. Mehlen, *Netrin-1 interacts with amyloid precursor protein and regulates amyloid-β production*. Cell Death & Differentiation, 2009. **16**(5): p. 655-663.
- 218. Keino-Masu, K., M. Masu, L. Hinck, E.D. Leonardo, S.S.-Y. Chan, J.G. Culotti, and M. Tessier-Lavigne, *Deleted in Colorectal Cancer (DCC) encodes a netrin receptor*. Cell, 1996. **87**(2): p. 175-185.
- 219. Kennedy, T.E., T. Serafini, J. de la Torre, and M. Tessier-Lavigne, *Netrins are diffusible chemotropic factors for commissural axons in the embryonic spinal cord*. Cell, 1994. **78**(3): p. 425-435.

- 220. Richards, L.J., S.E. Koester, R. Tuttle, and D.D. O'leary, *Directed growth of early cortical axons is influenced by a chemoattractant released from an intermediate target*. Journal of Neuroscience, 1997. **17**(7): p. 2445-2458.
- 221. Fazeli, A., S.L. Dickinson, M.L. Hermistonf, R.V. Tigne, I. Steen, and H. Rayburnf, *Phenotype of mice lacking functional Deleted in colorectal cancer (Dcc) gene*. PROBE, 1997. **1**(1).
- 222. Serafini, T., S.A. Colamarino, E.D. Leonardo, H. Wang, R. Beddington, W.C. Skarnes, and M. Tessier-Lavigne, *Netrin-1 is required for commissural axon guidance in the developing vertebrate nervous system*. Cell, 1996. **87**(6): p. 1001-1014.
- 223. Depienne, C., M. Cincotta, S. Billot, D. Bouteiller, S. Groppa, V. Brochard, C. Flamand, C. Hubsch, S. Meunier, and F. Giovannelli, *A novel DCC mutation and genetic heterogeneity in congenital mirror movements.* Neurology, 2011. **76**(3): p. 260-264.
- 224. Srour, M., J.-B. Rivière, J.M. Pham, M.-P. Dubé, S. Girard, S. Morin, P.A. Dion, G. Asselin, D. Rochefort, and P. Hince, *Mutations in DCC cause congenital mirror movements*. Science, 2010. **328**(5978): p. 592-592.
- 225. Grant, A., F. Fathalli, G. Rouleau, R. Joober, and C. Flores, *Association between schizophrenia and genetic variation in DCC: a case–control study.* Schizophrenia research, 2012. **137**(1): p. 26-31.
- 226. Kim, J.-M., S.K. Park, J.J. Yang, E.-S. Shin, J.-Y. Lee, J.Y. Yun, J.S. Kim, S.S. Park, and B.S. Jeon, *SNPs in axon guidance pathway genes and susceptibility for Parkinson's disease in the Korean population*. Journal of human genetics, 2011. **56**(2): p. 125-129.
- 227. Antoine-Bertrand, J., A. Ghogha, V. Luangrath, F.K. Bedford, and N. Lamarche-Vane, *The activation of ezrin–radixin–moesin proteins is regulated by netrin-1 through Src kinase and RhoA/Rho kinase activities and mediates netrin-1–induced axon outgrowth.* Molecular biology of the cell, 2011. **22**(19): p. 3734-3746.
- 228. Hirano, Y., T. Hatano, A. Takahashi, M. Toriyama, N. Inagaki, and T. Hakoshima, *Structural basis of cargo recognition by the myosin-X MyTH4–FERM domain.* The EMBO journal, 2011. **30**(13): p. 2734-2747.
- 229. Li, W., J. Lee, H.G. Vikis, S.-H. Lee, G. Liu, J. Aurandt, T.-L. Shen, E.R. Fearon, J.-L. Guan, and M. Han, *Activation of FAK and Src are receptor-proximal events required for netrin signaling*. Nature neuroscience, 2004. **7**(11): p. 1213.
- 230. Liu, G., H. Beggs, C. Jürgensen, H.-T. Park, H. Tang, J. Gorski, K.R. Jones, L.F. Reichardt, J. Wu, and Y. Rao, *Netrin requires focal adhesion kinase and Src family kinases for axon outgrowth and attraction.* Nature neuroscience, 2004. **7**(11): p. 1222.
- 231. Meriane, M., J. Tcherkezian, C.A. Webber, E.I. Danek, I. Triki, S. McFarlane, E. Bloch-Gallego, and N. Lamarche-Vane, *Phosphorylation of DCC by Fyn mediates Netrin-1 signaling in growth cone guidance*. J Cell Biol, 2004. **167**(4): p. 687-698.
- 232. Ren, X.-R., Y. Hong, Z. Feng, H.-M. Yang, L. Mei, and W.-C. Xiong, *Tyrosine phosphorylation of netrin receptors in netrin-1 signaling*. Neurosignals, 2008. **16**(2-3): p. 235-245.

- 233. Ren, X.-r., G.-l. Ming, Y. Xie, Y. Hong, D.-m. Sun, Z.-q. Zhao, Z. Feng, Q. Wang, S. Shim, and Z.-f. Chen, *Focal adhesion kinase in netrin-1 signaling*. Nature neuroscience, 2004. **7**(11).
- 234. Zhu, X.-J., C.-Z. Wang, P.-G. Dai, Y. Xie, N.-N. Song, Y. Liu, Q.-S. Du, L. Mei, Y.-Q. Ding, and W.-C. Xiong, *Myosin X regulates netrin receptors and functions in axonal path-finding*. Nature cell biology, 2007. **9**(2): p. 184-192.
- 235. Antoine-Bertrand, J., P.M. Duquette, R. Alchini, T.E. Kennedy, A.E. Fournier, and N. Lamarche-Vane, *p120RasGAP protein mediates Netrin-1 protein-induced cortical axon outgrowth and guidance*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2016. **291**(9): p. 4589-4602.
- 236. Bradley, W.D., S.E. Hernández, J. Settleman, and A.J. Koleske, *Integrin signaling through Arg activates p190RhoGAP by promoting its binding to p120RasGAP and recruitment to the membrane*. Molecular biology of the cell, 2006. **17**(11): p. 4827-4836.
- 237. Chang, J.-H., S. Gill, J. Settleman, and S.J. Parsons, *c-Src regulates the simultaneous rearrangement of actin cytoskeleton, p190RhoGAP, and p120RasGAP following epidermal growth factor stimulation.* The Journal of Cell Biology, 1995. **130**(2): p. 355-368.
- 238. Tomar, A., S.-T. Lim, Y. Lim, and D.D. Schlaepfer, *A FAK-p120RasGAPp190RhoGAP complex regulates polarity in migrating cells.* Journal of cell science, 2009. **122**(11): p. 1852-1862.
- 239. Kennedy, T.E., H. Wang, W. Marshall, and M. Tessier-Lavigne, *Axon guidance by diffusible chemoattractants: a gradient of netrin protein in the developing spinal cord.* Journal of Neuroscience, 2006. **26**(34): p. 8866-8874.
- 240. Serafini, T., T.E. Kennedy, M.J. Gaiko, C. Mirzayan, T.M. Jessell, and M. Tessier-Lavigne, *The netrins define a family of axon outgrowth-promoting proteins homologous to C. elegans UNC-6.* Cell, 1994. **78**(3): p. 409-424.
- 241. Tcherkezian, J., P.A. Brittis, F. Thomas, P.P. Roux, and J.G. Flanagan, *Transmembrane receptor DCC associates with protein synthesis machinery and regulates translation*. Cell, 2010. **141**(4): p. 632-644.
- 242. Forcet, C., E. Stein, L. Pays, V. Corset, F. Llambi, M. Tessier-Lavigne, and P. Mehlen, *Netrin-1-mediated axon outgrowth requires deleted in colorectal cancerdependent MAPK activation*. Nature, 2002. **417**(6887): p. 443-447.
- 243. Li, W., J. Aurandt, C. Jürgensen, Y. Rao, and K.-L. Guan, *FAK and Src kinases are required for netrin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of UNC5*. Journal of cell science, 2006. **119**(1): p. 47-55.
- 244. Ren, X.-r., G.-l. Ming, Y. Xie, Y. Hong, D.-m. Sun, Z.-q. Zhao, Z. Feng, Q. Wang, S. Shim, and Z.-f. Chen, *Focal adhesion kinase in netrin-1 signaling*. Nature neuroscience, 2004. 7(11): p. 1204-1212.
- 245. Hanke, J.H., J.P. Gardner, R.L. Dow, P.S. Changelian, W.H. Brissette, E.J. Weringer, B.A. Pollok, and P.A. Connelly, *Discovery of a novel, potent, and Src family-selective*

tyrosine kinase inhibitor Study of Lck-and FynT-dependent T cell activation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1996. **271**(2): p. 695-701.

- 246. McLAUCHLAN, H., M. ELLIOTT, and P. COHEN, *The specificities of protein kinase inhibitors: an update.* Biochemical Journal, 2003. **371**(1): p. 199-204.
- 247. Barnes, A.P. and F. Polleux, *Establishment of axon-dendrite polarity in developing neurons*. Annual review of neuroscience, 2009. **32**.
- 248. Anderson, C.N. and A.M. Tolkovsky, *A role for MAPK/ERK in sympathetic neuron survival: protection against a p53-dependent, JNK-independent induction of apoptosis by cytosine arabinoside.* Journal of Neuroscience, 1999. **19**(2): p. 664-673.
- 249. Cruz, C.D. and F. Cruz, *The ERK 1 and 2 pathway in the nervous system: from basic aspects to possible clinical applications in pain and visceral dysfunction.* Current neuropharmacology, 2007. **5**(4): p. 244-252.
- 250. Impey, S., K. Obrietan, and D.R. Storm, *Making new connections: role of ERK/MAP kinase signaling in neuronal plasticity.* Neuron, 1999. **23**(1): p. 11-14.
- 251. Monje, F.J., E.-J. Kim, D.D. Pollak, M. Cabatic, L. Li, A. Baston, and G. Lubec, *Focal adhesion kinase regulates neuronal growth, synaptic plasticity and hippocampus- dependent spatial learning and memory*. Neurosignals, 2012. **20**(1): p. 1-14.
- 252. Peng, S., Y. Zhang, J. Zhang, H. Wang, and B. Ren, *ERK in learning and memory: a review of recent research*. International journal of molecular sciences, 2010. **11**(1): p. 222-232.
- 253. Santos, A.R.C., R.G. Corredor, B.A. Obeso, E.F. Trakhtenberg, Y. Wang, J.
 Ponmattam, G. Dvoriantchikova, D. Ivanov, V.I. Shestopalov, and J.L. Goldberg, β1 integrin-focal adhesion kinase (FAK) signaling modulates retinal ganglion cell (RGC) survival. PloS one, 2012. 7(10): p. e48332.